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      Preface

      
      This book grew out of my work on Scott and Amundsen, for at every other turn the shadow of Ernest Shackleton fell across my path.
      

      
      Shackleton was more than a polar explorer; he was a hero, and a popular hero, of his own times. Under any circumstances, a
         biography seemed due. Only two have so far appeared, the last, by James and Margery Fisher, nearly thirty years ago. Since
         then, public records have been opened, new material has emerged.
      

      
      That includes the diaries of Shackleton’s followers. They are notably those of Sir Edgeworth David, Commander Lionel Greenstreet,
         Frank Hurley, Keith Jack, Ernest Joyce, Æneas Mackintosh, Sir Douglas Mawson, Lieutenant-Colonel Thomas Hans Orde-Lees, the
         Rev. Arnold Spencer-Smith. Other diaries of note have been those of Roald Amundsen, C. A. Larsen and Otto Nordenskjöld.
      

      
      Before the age of air travel and universal radio, polar expeditions were essays in isolation. The participants were exclusively
         their own chroniclers. In piecing their story together, the proper foundation is obviously the private journal, even if written
         with an eye to publication. At the very least, it is free of hindsight. It breaches inhibition. Quotations do duty for historical
         dialogue. It produces an immediacy otherwise hard to achieve, but different viewpoints are desirable for a rounded picture
         of people and events. Historical authenticity is all.
      

      
      For that reason, contemporary place-names have been used in this book. What is nowadays known as the Ross Ice Shelf appears
         as the Ross Ice Barrier or the Great Ice Barrier. Leningrad is called St Petersburg or, later, Petrograd. Oslo will be found
         as Christiania or Kristiania. Baia-Mare, now in Romania, reverts to Nagybanya in Hungary.
      

      
      Similarly, in quoting from diaries and letters, the original spelling and punctuation have been left untouched. In units of
         measurement, too, the sources have been followed. Thus, altitudes appear in feet. The nautical (or geographical) mile has
         been used for polar land travel. Temperatures are given, not in Centigrade, but Fahrenheit. The pound sterling is the old,
         predecimalised kind. Conversions will be found later in the book, on page 701.
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      Prologue

      
      “Great Shack!”

      
      In the summer of 1909, some children were walking along the seafront at Sheringham, in Norfolk. One of them, as another was
         to remember down the years, “suddenly said: ‘You know, when you want an exclamation, don’t say “Great Scott”, say “Great Shack!”’
         So we all did. Great Shack!”1

      
      They were all cousins, by marriage, of the Antarctic explorer, Ernest Shackleton. Cousin or not, he was their idol. In his
         rivalry with Robert Falcon Scott, they were his devoted partisans.
      

      
      Shackleton was an Edwardian hero. He belonged to the last epoch of terrestrial discovery before the exploration of space began.
         He hungered for the South Pole: “the last spot of the world,” as he put it, “that counts as worth the striving for though
         ungilded by aught but adventure.”2

      
      During the Great War of 1914–18 even his country’s enemies were concerned about his fate.

      
      At the limit of his endurance in the snows, Shackleton believed he saw a ghostly presence by his side. To him it was a mystical
         experience – and it inspired a haunting passage in one of the great poems of our age, The Waste Land.
      

   




      
      I

      
      Anglo-Irish background

      
      Ernest Henry Shackleton was an Anglo-Irishman. He thus belonged to an extraordinary breed.

      
      From Sheridan and Goldsmith to Oscar Wilde and George Bernard Shaw, the Anglo-Irish have poured out playwrights in a flood.
         So too among soldiers; from Wellington to Alexander, the Anglo-Irish have begotten generals out of all proportion to their
         numbers. Jonathan Swift also was Anglo-Irish, Richard Steele as well. Playwrights, generals, satirists and wits; these were
         the characteristic Anglo-Irish products, interlarded with admirals and an explorer or two.
      

      
      The Anglo-Irish formed, in the best sense of the term, an imperial governing class. They were the hereditary rulers of Ireland,
         when it was still England’s oldest colony – a race apart, by definition Protestant, the so-called Protestant Ascendancy. Selection
         was rigidly by creed. They were privileged landowners. Urbane and civilised, yet also improvident and eccentric, they put
         their own stamp on Irish society. They were the descendants of English settlers implanted down the centuries in an attempt
         to solve the already too familiar Irish question, by Protestant colonisation over the heads of the indigenous Catholics. A
         more or less embattled minority, they had all the vigour of settlers surviving in a hostile land. Dublin society was their
         creation. They identified so passionately with the country they ruled that they considered themselves Irish, and English hardly
         at all.
      

      
      The Shackletons came originally from Yorkshire. The founder of the family was Abraham Shackleton, a Quaker, who moved to Ireland
         early in the eighteenth century and started a school at Ballitore, near Dublin. One of Abraham’s pupils happened to be Edmund Burke, the political philosopher, among the greatest of the Anglo-Irish. One very Irish contemporary of Burke’s wrote
         of how Philip of Macedon “thanked the Gods, at the birth of Alexander, not so much for their having blessed him with a son,
         as for that son’s being born at a time when an Aristotle was living to superintend his education. Mr Burke’s father must have
         felt similar emotions on finding a Shuckleton [sic] in his neighbourhood to train up the young orator.”1

      
      Henry Shackleton, Ernest’s father, was Abraham’s direct descendant in the fourth generation. He was brought up an Anglican,
         not a Quaker, of the first generation of apostates. He tried to enter the Army, but sickness stopped him, and he became a
         farmer instead.
      

      
      It was in the green, fertile, rolling fields of County Kildare, among the most opulent of the Anglo-Irish that he settled,
         at a place called Kilkea. It was in the ancient English Pale of settlement which had existed since Strongbow and his Anglo-Normans
         originally conquered Ireland in the twelfth century.
      

      
      Kilkea was a very Irish place. To the east, was a view of the mountains of Wicklow. Dublin was thirty miles away. On a rise
         lay an Anglo-Norman castle; started in 1180, incompletely rebuilt in the fifteenth century, and now the somewhat tumbledown
         property of the Duke of Leinster. Out among the fields lay the cottages of the Irish peasantry; and clustered around the crossroads
         in the protective shadow of the castle, were the homes of the Anglo-Irish gentry; large, rambling Georgian houses with a distinctive
         eighteenth-century air. It was in one of these, Kilkea House, that Henry Shackleton lived. There, in 1874, on 15 February,
         Ernest Shackleton was born, a Protestant from the Pale, a scion of the Ascendancy. In later years he liked to recall that
         he shared his birthday with Galileo.
      

      
      Ernest Shackleton was the second child and elder son of a family that eventually numbered two brothers and eight sisters.
         Numbers, however, did not mean distress. There was enough to eat, and a comfortable home.
      

      
      “In favourable circumstances,” says an Anglo-Irish writer, “it must be admitted that in general the Irish are more amusing
         than the English or the Scots.”2 Bearded and upstanding, Shackleton’s father looked the complete nineteenth-century patriarch, but he only played the part
         in moderation, and Shackleton escaped the grimmer versions of Victorian upbringing. His mother knew how to manage her husband
         and her children, giving them – perhaps on that account – a secure and happy home, wherever it might happen to be. Born Henrietta
         Letitia Sophia Gavan, she married Henry Shackleton in 1872 and, on one side of her family, brought a touch of Irish blood into an otherwise pure Anglo-Irish lineage.
         Her virtues were total lack of pretension, and an unshakeable, almost exasperating optimism that recalls another Anglo-Irish
         remark about the Irish having “a certain fecklessness at worst, a trust in Providence at best”.3

      
      The tales clustering around Ernest Shackleton the child suggest an ordinarily troublesome boy, and very much the Irishman.
         They seem largely to illustrate persuasiveness, plausibility, and a capacity to hide shrewd calculation under onion skins
         of charm. In one, he induces a housemaid to help him dig in the garden for buried treasure, having first salted the claim
         with a ruby ring belonging to his mother. In another, he convinces one of his sisters that the Monument in London had been
         erected in his honour.
      

      
      One tale at least has the air of authenticity. Because his nanny had made him afraid of thunder, he asked to be hidden in
         the nursery cupboard during a thunderstorm. In after years, he did not like this mentioned. Nonetheless, he grew up with the
         unique self-confidence that is the priceless gift of privilege, or a colonial upbringing, however poor the purse.
      

      
      Shackleton’s birth coincided with one of the disastrous periodic failures of the potato crop that are so much part of Irish
         history. That meant an agricultural depression and hard times for farmers, but Henry Shackleton had no sentimental devotion
         to the land. He was a typical Anglo-Irishman, and therefore a survivalist. In 1880, before it was too late, he left his acres
         for Trinity College, Dublin. He had been there before, becoming Classical Prizeman. Now, at the age of thirty-three, he began
         to read medicine and start a new career. He took his family with him. Ernest thus became, at a receptive age, an honorary
         Dubliner.
      

      
      In 1884, immediately after qualifying Dr Shackleton crossed the water to settle in England for good. Two years before, not
         far from his Dublin home, had occurred the Phoenix Park assassination, when Lord Frederick Cavendish, the Chief Secretary
         for Ireland, was murdered by Catholic fanatics. The Irish Question was then in one of its periods of ferment; and since he
         believed in Home Rule for Ireland, Henry Shackleton sensed that Protestant power and English suzerainty could no longer be
         taken for granted. It was time to go. Just as Abraham Shackleton had arrived for the “great century” of the Anglo-Irish, Henry
         Shackleton left when they were in decline.
      

      
      Money also had a hand in the move. Besides the agricultural decay that had driven Henry Shackleton off the land, better prospects
         lured him over the Irish sea. His first practice, at South Croydon, was a failure, so after six months he moved to Sydenham. There he held his own, and there he stayed. It was in suburban
         London, therefore, that Ernest Shackleton passed the remainder of his boyhood.
      

      
      His mother had by now become mysteriously an invalid, and was to remain one for the last forty years of her life. She spent
         her waking hours in her sick room, scarcely noticed by her family. It was Dr Shackleton who brought up his children, helped
         by his mother-in-law, and various female relatives who came over periodically from Ireland.
      

      
      A male creature in an overwhelmingly female household, Ernest ran the risk of being crushed. He did not, at any rate, have
         an even submissive temperament but, in an Irish idiom, he was “down in the cellar or up in the garret”. In spite, or because
         of this, his many sisters, to quote one of them, Eleanore, “all adored him”. He had already learned how to charm his womenfolk
         into submission!
      

      
      This all took place in a puritan menage where there was much Bible reading, in the sonorous language of the Authorised Version.
         The girls were not allowed out to parties, and there was a ban on all kinds of drink. It was Ernest, however, who put fervour
         into this cause. With his mobile and expressive face, he was the picture of intensity. He became a youthful advocate of abstinence,
         persuaded the servants to take the pledge, and his sisters to join him in the Band of Hope, a children’s temperance organisation.
         Decked out in blue ribbons they would march past the pubs singing songs like,
      

      
      
      … once a mother’s love

      
      Shielded me from all the cares of life,

      
      But a year ago, sorrow laid her low

      
      Mother died a wretched drunkard’s wife.4




      
      Until the age of eleven and a half, Shackleton was educated at home by a governess. He then went to Fir Lodge Preparatory
         School, down the road from his home, Aberdeen House in West Hill. Fir Lodge was run by a spinster of a certain age, “the redoubtable
         Miss Higgins (with her ear trumpet) and her Chief of Staff Miss Parry”, to quote an old pupil. “Shackleton, whom I remember
         well,” he said after sixty years,
      

      
      

         was a big strong well made youngster & being a little older had little to do with us smaller fry, but he was always friendly
            & good natured. I remember once meeting him in West Hill wearing a smart new suit which he explained he was getting used to
            before wearing it every day.
         


         His father … was … our family doctor … In spite of his alarming beard he was very kind & gentle … We often met the daughters
            walking two & two in the streets of Sydenham.5

      



      
      It was in any case at Fir Lodge that Shackleton first learned the lesson of his background.

      
      To be Anglo-Irish, in the words of John Beckett, an Irish historian, was to be “caught between two conflicting influences;
         Irish by birth and circumstances, they lived in a cultural atmosphere that was essentially English”.6 And, he went on to say, “the most pervasive Anglo-Irish quality is a kind of ambivalence or ambiguity of outlook, arising
         from the need to be at once Irish and English”.
      

      
      In Dublin, much effort had been spent on eradicating Ernest’s brogue to make him speak like a little Englishman. But at Fir
         Lodge his speech stamped him as an Irishman. Indeed, on one St Patrick’s day, he and a fellow-Irish pupil were compelled by
         their schoolmates to have a fight “in honour of the sacred memory of St Patrick”. An Irishman in England Shackleton remained
         for the rest of his days.
      

      
      In 1887 Shackleton left Fir Lodge to go to Dulwich College. “From what I remember he did very little work,” an old schoolfellow
         remarked, “and if there was a scrap he was usually in it.”7

      
      Dulwich was not exactly one of the great public schools with aristocratic connections. In the words of one old boy, it was

      
      

         what you would call a middle class school. We were all the sons of reasonably solvent but not wealthy parents, and we all
            had to earn our living later on … Compared with Eton, Dulwich would be something like an American State university compared
            with Harvard or Princeton.8

      



      
      This was not quite fair. Dulwich was founded in 1618, and it became a solid Victorian public school. It fulfilled its own
         aim of sending out imperial administrators. It produced a large number of businessmen. It was also a nursery for writers.
         Unlike most public schools, it was intended for boys living in the neighbourhood, and was therefore not predominantly boarding.
         It was within walking distance of the Shackleton home. In any case, it was what Dr Shackleton could afford, and Ernest entered
         as a day boy.
      

      
      “It is very doubtful whether he was ever like other boys,” The Captain, a schoolboy magazine, wrote of Shackleton’s Dulwich days. It went on to say that he was “rather an odd boy who, in spite
         of an adventurous nature and the spirit of romance that was in him, loved a book better than a bat, solitude better than a crowd, his own companionship better than a mob of other lads, a boy
         who kept his own counsel, never except for brief moments let his thoughts show on his tongue – a grim, determined headstrong
         fellow of whom the discerning would prophesy great things, and the undiscerning miserable failure.”
      

      
      This was written twenty years on, by which time Shackleton had become one of the famous Edwardians. It was, as the writer
         frankly put it, an attempt to “reconstruct a man’s boyhood out of the materials of his manhood”.
      

      
      The Captain was aimed at public schoolboys. It published, incidentally, some of the first stories of P. G. Wodehouse, one of the most
         celebrated Old Alleynians, as Dulwich Old Boys are called, after the Elizabethan actor Edward Alleyn, who founded the school.
         Shackleton was presented as one of their illustrious products, an exemplar of the working of the system, yet Shackleton himself
         complained that Dulwich had not
      

      
      

         taught me things … I never learned much geography at school, for instance. [It] consisted … in names of towns, lists of capes
            and bays and islands. Literature, too, consisted in the dissection, the parsing, the analysing of certain passages from our
            great poets and prose-writers … teachers should be very careful not to spoil their taste for poetry for all time by making
            it a task and an imposition.9

      



      
      At school, as this indicates, Shackleton was unspeakably bored. As a result, he was usually near the bottom of his form. The Captain sympathised. The magazine was a bit of a maverick, discreetly campaigning for better teaching, and advocated engineering
         as a desirable profession for public schoolboys. From Shackleton’s tale, this was the moral that it drew:
      

      
      

         The elemental forces of school life are a great unconscious training for a boy, and from these blind and semi-blind forces
            there emerge independence, grit, initiative and, once in a while, greatness.10

      



      
      If you are unhappy at school, The Captain seems to be saying, do not despair; so were many famous men.
      

      
      Not that Shackleton was a grand rebel or a spectacular misfit; he was simply unsuited to formalised academic schooling. “Education”
         then meant Latin and Greek, with Oxford or Cambridge the goal. Shackleton, however, was on the Modern side, which instead
         taught French, German and mathematics, intended for those going into business. This did not appeal to Shackleton. Nor did
         he excel at rugby or cricket. Indeed, he was ill at ease with team games. In most aspects of school life, therefore, he was out of
         place. He used to seek refuge, sometimes in reading, notably, like others of his kind, The Boys’ Own Paper.
      

      
      The BOP was a British institution. Every Saturday, for 1½d,* it dispensed an inimitable blend of escapism, practical advice (“How to tame a Snake”), moral uplift, true adventure, first
         class fiction, patriotism and blood and thunder serials like “Nearly garotted, a story of the Cuban Insurrection.”11 It was exactly calculated to inspire a late Victorian schoolboy like Ernest Shackleton. He had “dark hair & large grey-blue
         eyes”, a school-friend’s sister was to remember down the years. “He was always full of fun.”12 Of medium height, but broad-shouldered and pugnacious; nicknamed variously Mick, Mike, Mickey, and “The fighting Shackleton”,
         an inveterate practical joker, the leader of a small gang of cronies and an occasional truant, he had the makings of a character
         from Kipling.
      

      
      Shackleton’s best friend at Dulwich was Nicetas Petrides, a boy of Greek extraction. They lived in the same road at Sydenham,
         West Hill, and used to walk to school together. On one seaside holiday at St Leonards, Petrides and his brother saved Shackleton
         from drowning. “For this,” Petrides recalled, “we were duly rewarded by him by each being treated to an ice.”13 Not surprisingly, perhaps, Petrides’ abiding memory of Shackleton was that even at the age of fifteen he could not swim.
      

      
      Dr Shackleton wanted Ernest to follow him into the medical profession. Ernest, however, wanted to go to sea. In this, too,
         The Boys’ Own Paper may have had a hand, with its nautical adventures, like Great Shipwrecks of the World, or perhaps even with its serialisation of 20,000 Leagues under the Sea, which introduced Shackleton to Jules Verne’s science fiction tale of the electric submarine Nautilus. Electricity was then the genie of the lamp, as the atom and the micro chip have since become, but Shackleton’s response
         was wholly romantic. He saw himself as Captain Nemo, the mysterious captain of the Nautilus, a pirate, an Ishmael, a Robin Hood done up in sinister modern dress. It was an act of identification that persisted into
         adulthood, when Shackleton turned to Nemo as a nom de guerre.
      

      
      The headmaster of Dulwich, A. H. Gilkes, was a legendary figure, tall, white-bearded, forbidding and patriarchal; “almost
         an incarnation”, to quote someone recalling his schooldays, “of a boy’s view of God”.14 Gilkes, however, was hardly the caricature of a Victorian martinet. Boys, he once said,
      

      
      


         always should be treated with the utmost politeness and with everyone’s best manners. Respectful kindness is more or less
            the secret of the whole matter, combined with a patience and a watchfulness and a trustfulness that never dies.15

      



      
      Nonetheless, Dulwich was run with firm discipline; but Shackleton became known for the way he managed to avoid punishment
         under Gilkes’ regime.
      

      
      When, as frequently, he was late for school, Shackleton would start on a long and plainly fantastical explanation. Resisting
         all attempts by the master to cut him short, he would insist on telling his tale. Shackleton’s excuses became a regular entertainment
         – so the story goes – in which the whole form was mesmerised by his very Irish capacity to grip an audience, and in the process
         he usually escaped the mandatory detention. Whether he actually believed what he was saying, was another matter altogether.
      

      
      Evidently, Shackleton was not the usual kind of boy who keeps daydreams decently as daydreams. He inhabited the twilight world
         between imagination and reality and such people, as Dr Shackleton no doubt knew, will eventually go their own way, for better
         or for worse. Not that Dr Shackleton was exactly a model of conformity himself. He practised homeopathy, and thus was a medical
         dissenter, as his forebears had been religious dissenters. But he had learned not to resist the inevitable, and his son would
         be allowed to go to sea.
      

      
      The Navy was one answer, but Dr Shackleton could hardly afford the fees for Britannia, the cadet training ship at Dartmouth. These were £70 a year whereas it had only cost £15 a year to keep Ernest at Dulwich.
         In any case, while the matter was being thrashed out, Shackleton passed the age limit for entry, which was 14½. There remained
         Worcester or Conway, the cadet training ships for the mercantile marine but, to quote Shackleton himself, “My father thought to cure me of my
         predilection for the sea by letting me go in the most primitive manner possible as a ‘boy’ on board a sailing ship at a shilling
         a month!”16

      
      Dr Shackleton nonetheless had no wish to consign his son to a hell ship. Through a cousin, the Rev. G. W. Woosnam, who happened
         to be Superintendent of the Mersey Mission to Seamen, he secured a good berth with reasonable owners, the North Western Shipping
         Company of Liverpool. The ship was a full rigger called the Hoghton Tower. But before Shackleton could sail, he still had to endure one more term at school. Partly this was due to the necessary notice
         of removal; partly to the delay in preparing the ship for sea.
      

      
      
      His chosen goal now within reach, Shackleton abruptly began to work more strenuously. For the first time at Dulwich, he worked
         hard. Looking back, he seemed to think that he was a kind of boy for whom school had ceased to be of any benefit, and that
         this at last had been acknowledged. Whatever the explanation, when he left Dulwich, at the end of the Lent term, 1890, he
         was near the top of the Lower Modern Fourth, the apex of his school career. He had just turned sixteen, and been at Dulwich
         a little less than three years. On 19 April he went to Liverpool to join the Hoghton Tower. The impression he left behind him, as one of his teachers put it, was that of “a rolling stone who would probably gather
         no moss”.17

   



      
      
      II

      
      Round the Horn

      
      In Hoghton Tower Shackleton was bound for Valparaiso round Cape Horn in a square rigged ship. It was the kind of first voyage that belongs
         to sailors’ folklore.
      

      
      Cape Horn has a special place in the mythology of the sea. The last outlier of the Americas towards the south, it juts out
         into tempestuous seas, a byword of danger and distress. There was, too, a mystique about the square rigger. Billowing with
         canvas under full sail, it possessed an incomparable beauty. It was also the fastest and the most dangerous sailing ship to
         handle. It produced its own breed of men. They and their ships were made to be driven hard.
      

      
      A few days out, Shackleton discovered the literal meaning of the expression “learning the ropes”. A ship is like a musical
         instrument, with her rigging and her sails the strings. In the rigging of the Hoghton Tower, there were over two hundred ropes, each with its own name. Shackleton had to learn them all. He was taught in the traditional
         way by the mate of his watch, who took him round the deck, pointing out the ropes, and examined him daily, helping memory
         by hitting him with a knotted rope end at each mistake. To confuse a clewline with a halyard, for example, or a lee brace
         with a weather backstay, could mean the end of the ship and everybody in her. The language of the sea is precise, and it must
         be learned quickly.
      

      
      “I can tell you Nic,” Shackleton wrote to his school friend Petrides from the Hoghton Tower, “that it is pretty hard work, and dirty work too. It is a queer life and a risky one”; he continued in his oddly punctuated,
         conversational style,
      

      
      

         you carry your life in your hand whenever you go aloft, in bad weather; how would you like to be 150 feet up in the air; hanging
            on with one hand to a rope while with the other you try and get the sail in … and there is the ship rocking pitching and rolling about
            like a live creature. It takes you about an hour to get even a light sail in; so you can imagine how long it would take us
            to get a sail; with about 500 squ. feet of canvas in it in; even with 27 hands working. I can tell you its [sic] not all honey at sea.1

      



      
      Numbed by the personal vindictiveness which, of all natural forces, only the wind suggests, Shackleton was learning the lesson
         of self-preservation, part of his initiation into an exclusive but dwindling brotherhood. Hoghton Tower symbolised the rearguard of the age of sail. Built of steel, of 1,700 tons displacement, Al at Lloyd’s, she represented the
         sailing ship at the apex of its technical development, the last flowering before steam finally took over. The sailing ship
         only existed now by grace of the technical deficiencies of the steam engine and, as these were eliminated, sail was forced
         to retreat. By the time Shackleton went to sea, the sailing ship was doomed, but it survived as the scavenger of the oceans,
         picking up cargoes the steamers spurned. This usually meant unpleasant and dangerous cargoes: coal out from Britain to the
         East; nitrates (for fertilisers) home from the Pacific coast of South America.
      

      
      Shackleton reached Cape Horn in the middle of the southern winter. Because it is against the prevailing winds, going round
         the Horn is usually harder east to west. It took the Hoghton Tower almost two months, fighting against the storms. To cap everything, there was the danger of icebergs on the prowl. Sometimes
         it must have seemed to a slightly frightened Shackleton that the ship was on the point of foundering, and possibly she was.
         It was, in short, a typical rough passage; the stuff of many a sailor’s yarn.
      

      
      Battered and seaworn, the Hoghton Tower ran for Valparaiso which she reached in the middle of August. From there she sailed for Iquique, a dreary tropical roadstead
         in Chile. There, for six monotonous weeks, she loaded nitrates and Shackleton learned how to work cargo in heavy boats through
         the surf – for Iquique did not offer the luxury of quays and cranes alongside. The Hoghton Tower returned to Liverpool at the end of April 1891, with food and water running out. It was all in the hard tradition of the
         age of sail.
      

      
      So far Shackleton, or rather his calling, had been on probation. Now he had to decide whether to go home or be bound apprentice
         to qualify as an officer. It was the first great decision of his life.
      

      
      “I think if I had hated the sea, I should have still stuck to it,” Shackleton used to say in after years. “But I didn’t hate
         it, although I found it a hard life.”2 Perhaps there was in this a grain of revolt against his father. Closer to the event, his captain, a strict but understanding man, said after that first voyage
         that Shackleton was “the most pig-headed, obstinate boy I have ever come across”.3 But beyond this did Shackleton perhaps sense that he was a kind of outcast, able only to approach contentment away from the
         mortal coil of life ashore?
      

      
      In those days there was no wireless. Once out of sight of land, every ship was an island, each voyage an escape. On the Hoghton Tower, for all its hardship, Shackleton had the solace of being among others of his kind. They were epitomised in the captain who,
         afloat, was a kind of god but, as soon as he set foot ashore, seemed to shrink into the herd. They all seemed bound by some
         flaw that disqualified them from fulfilment on land.
      

      
      So Shackleton chose the sea, and he signed his indentures. Before him lay at least four years hard sailing.

      
      He returned to the Hoghton Tower; this time with an unsympathetic captain. Did he nurse a twinge of regret? “I suppose there must be a great change in our
         respective persons”, he wrote to Petrides, who had now entered his father’s firm of sponge merchants. “You will doubtless
         be a city man by this time.” Perhaps Shackleton was wishing his father was a prosperous sponge importer, instead of a suburban doctor; for after the neat sheltered existence of a respectable
         London suburb, Shackleton was now having to learn to cope with men at sea:
      

      
      

         The characters you meet with [he continued his letter to Petrides,] are the most mixed kinds, for instance in the watch I
            am in viz.: – the starboard one; there is an American who had to flee his country for killing a coloured man; and another
            who was foreman in large timber works … another owner of a large cattle ranch in one of the central States of North America;
            they through various means have come down to a ships [sic] forecastle. Only the other day I saw a man stab another with a knife in the thigh right up to the handle …
         

      



      
      “I suppose you have forgotten my existence altogether being away”, Shackleton ended, “good bye old man always through life
         your true friend.”4

      
      On the Hoghton Tower Shackleton now shuttled between Liverpool, South America and the East: five times round Cape Horn; once round the Cape; each
         voyage an education on its own; half-way round the world without touching land; three or four months continuously at sea.
         In July 1894, he finally paid off in order to take his examination for Second Mate. He passed on 28 August. Six weeks later,
         he obtained his certificate for adjusting compasses. At the age of twenty Shackleton had become a qualified foreign-going Mate.
      

      
      Shackleton left the Hoghton Tower with a reputation for being out of the ordinary. Men at sea, however, especially in sail, have always been varied to a fault
         and Shackleton was recognisably a type; or rather, as one of his shipmates later put it, he was “several types bound in one
         volume”.5

      
      He was still, for example, the proselytising abstainer of his schooldays. “I have 11 names down in my pledge book,” he told
         Petrides, naively adding, “all of the fellows did not keep it, it is a great pity the way sailors spend their money; in making
         themselves lower than the very beasts.” Nor, like other apprentices, was Shackleton sexually precocious.
      

      
      

         It is a hard job to keep straight here but I know where to go for help; so I am kept through the many temptations around me.6

      



      
      “Communing with the stars” on watch kept him away from the women down by the dockside – Shackleton said, afterwards. He was,
         in the words of a shipmate, “a lad you could never get at, because when he wasn’t on duty on the deck he was stowed away in
         his cabin with his books … He was full of it … he could quote poetry … And the other lads used to say ‘Old Shack’s busy with
         his books’.”7

      
      Browning, a standard favourite of the age, was the poet whom Shackleton could, and did, quote to anyone he could persuade
         to stand and listen. This was a legacy from home. Like many middle-class Victorian households, the Shackletons cultivated
         poetry, partly as entertainment, and partly as moral uplift. Shackleton himself, however, was not only reciting poetry; as
         his ship rose and swooped over the waves, he was secretly trying to write it as well, but he made the terrible discovery that
         the stanzas bore little resemblance to the tremendous emotions welling up within. It was the first, perhaps the greatest bafflement
         of his life.
      

      
      Such was the mildly paradoxical figure with his fresh Second Mate’s certificate in hand. Having left school with the stigma
         of being anything but scholarly, he had became “old Shacks” who was always “busy with his books”. Now also muscular and agile
         after four years’ shinning up the rigging, with his square jutting jaw, and eye a-gleam with stern purpose, he set out on
         the next stage of his career. He had to put in sea time to qualify for his First Mate’s certificate. He nursed no romantic
         addiction to sail, and sought a change through a berth in steam.
      

      
      Instead of doing the usual round of shipping offices, Shackleton went to an old school friend, Owen Burne, making intelligent use of the old-boy network. (“Favouritism,” said Admiral Fisher,
         the great naval reformer, “is the secret of our efficiency!”) Because Burne was a wine merchant, Shackleton assumed he must
         know some shipowners. Burne did and introduced him to Major Jenkins, senior partner of the Welsh Shire Line, who offered him
         a Fourth Mate’s berth. As Burne himself told the tale:
      

      
      

         A few days later I met Jenkins and he said, “that’s a rum fellow Shackleton,” I said “what has he done,” and his reply was
            he had been to see the ship and he did not like the 4th mates quarters but would go as third.
         

         I told him I was very sorry and asked him what he did about it and he said “I rather liked the chap and gave it him”.8

      



      
      The berth was on a tramp steamer called the Monmouthshire, and in the middle of November 1894 Shackleton shipped on her for China, Japan and the Straits Settlements, which began five
         years’ sailing to the Far East and America.
      

      
      On the Hoghton Tower Shackleton had made friends with a seaman of his own age, although apprentices, as future officers, were not supposed to
         mix with their social inferiors before the mast. An engineer on one of his later ships vividly recalled how, at the time,
         “a marked ‘standoffishness’ existed between officers and engineers, but Shackleton soon broke down the barrier”.9

      
      

         “Do you know,” I said to him, “I always thought that you belonged to the Ha! Ha! brigade, who considered engineers beneath
            their notice.” “To tell you the real truth old man,” Shackleton said, “I am of a retiring and nervous disposition, and prefer
            to remain in the background. I dislike being snubbed.”10

      



      
      Shackleton, at any rate, was proving to be at home with all kinds of men, but he was still “Old Shacks” always “busy with
         his books”. Sometimes he was working for his First Mate’s examination. More often, on his watch below, as he sat in his tiny
         cabin, which reverberated to the measured stamp of the ship’s engines, he was reading for pleasure. It was very rarely fiction,
         more often history: “A certain type of history,” as he once put it. “I read Motley’s History of the Dutch Republic … and its fascinating story of the way that little nation became a great naval power and a great colonising race … Prescott
         I [also] read.”11

      
      As Shackleton tallied cargo under Eastern skies, the Union Jack often waved on the flagstaff at the port. Two out of every
         three ships he saw flew the Red Ensign. Everywhere, he could glimpse the White Ensign on a warship, a far-flung symbol of British
         naval might, policing the seaways of the world. He was tangibly experiencing the British Empire, the largest yet known, yet
         he chose to read about two other great empires: the Spanish and the Dutch. The trouble about British imperial literature was
         that, to a romantic like Shackleton, it seemed impossibly dismal (but not, of course, the deeds). It oozed high moral purpose.
         For vigorous reading, one had to look elsewhere.
      

      
      Prescott, to whom Shackleton turned, is the historian of the Spanish American Empire; his heroes, the conquistadores of the
         sixteenth century, were explorers on a monumental scale, unburdened by moralistic delusions, conquering a continent with a
         handful of men; down-at-heel adventurers who made their fortunes by themselves. To Shackleton, this was notably inspiring.
         He found Prescott’s romantic tale of Pizarro conquering Peru for his own unashamed gain conspicuously more attractive (and
         convincing?) than, for example, Livingstone gloomily trudging through Africa for the good of the natives’ souls. So, Shackleton
         soaked himself in the heady stuff of personal fulfilment in the age of the individual, interlaced with the poetry of Browning,
         devoted to the inspection of his own soul.
      

      
      In 1896 Shackleton, without much difficulty, passed for First Mate. In April 1898, he was certified as Master. At the age
         of twenty-four he had qualified to command a British ship anywhere on the seven seas.
      

      
      Shackleton was then on another Welsh Line ship, the Flintshire. “Well Shacky,” a shipmate recalled saying soon after,
      

      
      

         “what do you think of this old tub? You’ll be skipper of her one day.” “You see, old man,” he said “as long as I remain with
            this company, I’ll never be more than a skipper. But I think I can do something better. In fact, really, I would like to make
            a name for myself (he paused for a moment or two) and her.” He was looking pensively over the sea at the moment, and I noticed
            his face light up at the mention of “her”.12

      



      
      Even allowing for the sentimentality of the age, it says something of Shackleton’s personality that he could talk like this
         and get away with it. The “her” of this passage was Emily Dorman, a neighbour at Sydenham, and a friend of his sister Kathleen.
      

      
      Shackleton had remained very much attached to his family. His sisters, one of them recalled with relish, he called his “harem”:

      
      


         “Come all my wives,” he would shout when he entered the house after a voyage. He would lie down and call out: “Come Fatima,
            tickle my toes. Come, oh favoured one and scratch my back.” Of course we all loved it.13

      



      
      It was probably inevitable that Shackleton would be attracted by one of his sisters’ friends. He had met Emily Dorman at home
         in the summer of 1897 when she was visiting Kathleen. Shackleton was between voyages on the Flintshire just back from Japan. He was twenty-three, and she six years older, a tall, dark-haired young woman with a good figure; not
         exactly beautiful, but definitely attractive, and with a formidable hint of motherly firmness behind a soft manner. Had he
         heard of her before? Did his sisters arrange the meeting for reasons of their own? Shackleton, at any rate, was soon urgently
         in pursuit.
      

      
      At the end of 1898 the Flintshire ran aground near Middles-brough. Shackleton took the opportunity to beg 24-hours’ leave and go home, ostensibly for his father’s
         birthday on 1 January. At Sydenham, on the way, he visited The Firs, where Emily lived. She recalled how
      

      
      

         We spent the evening in the billiard room, – he told me how he loved me – I was deeply moved – I remember so well – because
            he put his cigarette on a ledge in the big oak chimney piece – & it burnt a deep dent – which we tried to rub out – and we
            often looked at it in after days – but no one else noticed it!… I let him out through the conservatory about 10.301 think
            and he kissed my hand – he went home then to wish his father “many happy returns”.14

      



      
      It was the first time Shackleton had been seriously in love. Others before him had been interested in Emily, but Shackleton,
         in the words of a friend, gave an impression of “inexhaustible animal spirits, of exuberant vitality, of explosive energy”.15 This, perhaps, was what Emily hankered for, and perhaps, too, she dimly discerned that in the true Spanish sense, Shackleton
         was a kind of Don Juan; someone to whom the pursuit, not the conquest, was satisfaction.
      

      
      In any case both were inhibited by the grotesqueries of Victorian morality. On the other hand, it lent piquancy to their affair.
         Browning became their bond, for Browning turned out to be Emily’s favourite poet too, and they were soon presenting each other
         with his works. Browning also provided Shackleton with a vehicle for his thoughts, which he now proceeded to expound. Loquacious and flamboyant as he was, Shackleton perhaps saw in Emily the first person to whom he could unburden himself.
      

      
      “Listen,” he wrote in one of the letters that now began to flow between them. “Listen, I do not want Paracelsus’ happiness.
         I would attain, but the goal is that to which Aprile yearned.”16 To express himself, Shackleton had chosen one of Browning’s more obscure works. Paracelsus is the hero of a long dramatic
         poem of that name, a kind of Faust figure, prepared to renounce love as the price for knowledge, fame and power. Aprile, one
         of the figures in the poem, takes the other view. Only love can make achievement worthwhile; “I would love infinitely,” he
         is made to say, “and be loved.”17

      
      

         What can I call success [Shackleton continued in his letter] a few years praise from those around and then’ down to the grave
            with the knowledge that the best thing has been missed: unless the worlds success brings that to pass and for me it seems
            a long way off.18

      



      
      By the standards of the day, Emily Dorman was quite conventional. She appeared passive yet responsive. She knew how to flirt.
         Her aim, eventually, was marriage. Until then, she would live with her family. Afterwards, she would pass from her father’s
         to her husband’s care. She was with her family at Lugano, in the Alps, when Shackleton was at Port Said, on the way to China,
         suffering the miseries of separation and hope deferred. He wrote,
      

      
      

         It is because of my unhappy nature to stick to the truth to be true to others as to myself; that things seem so hard! I walk
            on Hells Paving stones burning my feet, yes twisting my hearts roots in the pain of it. Down in the dark with no ray of light …
            the other day you put life at its best about thirty years of age and the rest down hill …
         

         You ask me to tell you what I do every day. I think, curse it all, think again and hope; that is all, truly a happy life …
            19

      



      
      Shackleton by now had had enough of tramping to the East. To improve his standing with Emily – and her father – he wanted
         something better. He left the Welsh Shire Line, and once more turned to his Old Alleynian friend, Owen Burne. This led, early
         in 1899, to a berth with the Union Castle Line.
      

      
      The Union Castle Line belonged to the élite of the merchant service. It carried the mails between England and South Africa,
         one of the companies that maintained the communications of the Empire. From their red and black funnels to their red boot
         topping, its ships shone with immaculate paint – or as immaculate as coal-burning allowed. Brasswork glistened; officers gleamed in navy blue and gold braid. It was the next best thing to
         the Navy. It also meant the prospect of advancement to the top; and the chance of making useful friends among the passengers.
      

      
      From this period, various tales became attached to Shackleton. In one, Lord Rothschild was a passenger on a ship in which
         he was serving and, after dinner one night, presented him with a magnificent cigar. Shackleton, so the story goes, carefully
         preserved that cigar, and on subsequent voyages would exhibit it to favoured lady passengers, recounting how he and Lord Rothschild
         had been “quite pally, you know”.
      

      
      In another story, a man fell overboard and a boat put out to rescue him. One of the ship’s cooks and an officer were in the
         boat’s crew; the cook dived in and saved the man, but in so doing tipped the boat, and the officer fell overboard. The officer
         received a life-saving medal, and the cook, nothing. Shackleton thereupon got his sister, Kathleen, to illustrate the scene,
         with the caption, “How ----- got his medal”, and hung the drawing in the mess as a protest.

      
      That at least was the tale that Kathleen told. She adored her brother Ernest. He it was who drove her to study art, saying
         that he himself was a frustrated artist, and that she must not end up one as well. She became a passable professional painter,
         convinced that but for Ernest she would never have had the courage to follow her bent. By her own account, another sister,
         Eleanore, was inspired by Shackleton to follow her vocation; and she became a nurse. Shackleton almost seemed driven to sustain
         his sisters against what he felt was the stultifying effect of his parents’ household. He did not desert the house at Sydenham,
         but “home” to him meant the society of his sisters.
      

      
      At all events, the Union Castle Line meant regularly coming home every two months instead of the long and indeterminate absences
         of the tramping trade.
      

      
      It also meant passenger ships running to a timetable, and therefore also a routine of sorts. Down the Solent from Southampton,
         round the bulge of Africa, across the Bight of Benin, into the docks at Cape Town, under the blue flat-topped bulk of Table
         Mountain with its table-cloth of white clouds, and back; out and home again, voyage after voyage, six thousand miles each
         way. To most merchant officers it was an unattainable ideal.
      

      
      When Shackleton joined the Union Castle Line, a shipmate recorded the now customary impression of someone “distinctive and
         a departure from our usual type of young officer”. Shackleton, he went on,
      

      
      


         was contented with his own company – at the same time he never stood aloof in any way, but was eager to talk – to argue as
            sailors do … he had a quiet drawl in his ordinary speech but however slow his words his eyes were bright and his glances quick
            – When he was on a subject that … appealed to his imagination, his voice changed to a deep vibrant tone, his features worked,
            his eyes shone, and his whole body seemed to have received an increase of vitality … Shackleton on these occasions … was not
            then the same man who perhaps ten minutes earlier was spouting lines from Keats or Browning – this was another Shackleton
            with his broad shoulders hunched – his square jaw set – his eyes cold & piercing; at such a time he might have been likened
            to a bull at bay.
         

         But withal, he was very human, very sensitive. He quickly responded to his sympathetic nature and was slow to pass judgement
            on his fellows.20

      



      
      But Shackleton was also noticeably restless. He was suffering the pangs of his love affair with Emily Dorman, and, as he explained
         in his outpourings to her, he was suffering the anguish of ambition stirring:
      

      
      

         A man should strive to the uttermost of his life’s set prize. I feel the truth of it: but how can I do enough if my uttermost
            falls short in my opinion of what should take the prize?21

      



      
      By December, promoted to Third Officer, Shackleton was transferred to the Tintagel Castle, trooping to the Gape. For in October 1899 the Boer War had broken out.
      

      
      Shackleton’s boyhood had been punctuated by imperial calamities. When he was seven, there was Isandhlwana, a defeat of the
         British Army (with firearms) by the Zulus (without); two years later, at Majuba Hill, the Boers had destroyed another British
         force and then, in 1885, occurred the all-British disaster: the romantic, useless death of General Gordon at Khartoum. Each
         defeat was eventually atoned for in what was to become an all too familiar pattern of final redemptory triumph after an overture
         of humiliation. The agents of revenge had been Generals Wolseley, Roberts, and Kitchener; the two former, the young Shackleton
         could note, Anglo-Irish like himself. All this prepared him for Spion Kop, Magersfontein, and the other preliminary disasters
         of the Boer War.
      

      
      The soldiers on board the Tintagel Castle were going out, cock-a-hoop like a champion football team to an anticipated walkover. That disaster and disillusion lay in
         wait is beside the point. Shackleton entered into the spirit of the troops. He was stirred by contact with men in the process of making history, one
         way or another.
      

      
      During the summer of 1900, Shackleton was in London on leave, seeing Emily when he could. His intentions were what were then
         called “honourable”, that is to say, marriage was probably in his mind. Emily’s father, Charles Dorman, was a prosperous solicitor;
         a partner in a practice near the Law Courts in the Strand. As a person, he rather liked Ernest Shackleton, with his breezy
         kind of charm. As a prospective son-in-law, however, he was less sure. Even a Union Castle officer, Mr Dorman was now courteously
         hinting, especially one coming from an impecunious Irish family, was not quite what he expected. About the impecuniosity,
         Shackleton was only too ready to agree. But this particular Irish, or Anglo-Irish family, as he could argue, did have a coat
         of arms. In fact, he used it on his notepaper.
      

      
      Then on 13 September, Shackleton wrote to volunteer for the National Antarctic Expedition which was in the process of being
         organised. Four days later, he visited the expedition offices in person to press home his claims.
      

   



      
      
      III

      
      A path to fame and fortune?

      
      “And where,” a journalist later asked, “did you first get the notion that you … would … become an explorer?” Shackleton replied,

      
      

         I think it came to me during my first voyage … I felt strangely drawn towards the mysterious south … we rounded Cape Horn
            in the depth of winter, it was one continuous blizzard all the way … Yet many a time, even in the midst of all this discomfort,
            my thoughts would go out to the southward …
         

         But strangely enough, the circumstance which actually determined me to become an explorer was a dream I had when I was twenty
            two. We were beating out to New York from Gibraltar, and I dreamt I was standing on the bridge in mid-Atlantic and looking
            northward. It was a simple dream. I seemed to vow to myself that some day I would go to the region of ice and snow and go
            on and on till I came to one of the poles of the earth, the end of the axis upon which this great round ball turns.1

      



      
      Shackleton went even further:

      
      

         the unexplored parts of the world held a strong fascination for me from my earliest recollections … I read everything I could
            lay my hands upon which had for its subject Polar exploration. One of my favourite books was Dr Hall’s Life with the Esquimaux.
         

      



      
      None of this is actually implausible. Neither the North Pole nor the South Pole had yet been reached. Life with the Esquimaux had been serialised in The Boys’ Own Paper when Shackleton, at school, was still amongst its readers. At that time, too, the BOP ran a lurid series on contemporary polar exploration entitled “The Thrones of the Ice King”. The author, a Royal Naval officer called
         Commander Cheyne, was concerned to maintain British pre-eminence. After three hundred years in uninterrupted possession, the
         country had lost the record for the Furthest North. Cheyne was agitating for the resumption of British polar exploration,
         in the doldrums since 1876. “May England consider it time,” Cheyne told BOP readers, “and not allow the final words ‘Too late’ to be inscribed on the tablets of her former daring achievements in the
         Polar regions.”2 He actually wanted to fly to the North Pole by balloon. The attempt was finally made, not by Cheyne, but by the Swede, Salomon
         Andrée, in 1897; and it ended in disaster.
      

      
      What Shackleton told that journalist, however, was one thing; what he told his shipmates was another. Austin Hussey, a fellow
         officer, vividly recalled Shackleton explaining at the time that he had been attracted by the Antarctic expedition as an
      

      
      

         opportunity of breaking away from the monotony of method and routine – from an existence which might eventually strangle his
            individuality. He saw himself so slowly progressing to the command of a liner that his spirit rebelled at the thought of the
            best years of his life and virility passing away in weary waiting.3

      



      
      Hussey also told a story of how “one rather pompous skipper”, who had heard that Shackleton

      
      

         was “a bit of a poet” called to him when he was on the bridge keeping his watch “Is the glorious orb of day visible?” Like
            a flash Shackleton replied “The effulgence of King Sol is temporarily obscured by the nebulous condition of the intervening
            atmosphere.” “Humph,” said the skipper, who promptly retired. “Got him with his own tackle,” quoth Shackleton.4

      



      
      Shackleton might indeed rise to be a popular captain. He might just as easily end up as the everlasting First Mate; the “card”;
         that amusing Irishman remembered by so many captains on their way to the top. He might even turn out to be one of those pathetic
         drifters eking out a living in the China Seas.
      

      
      Chance had played a part in Shackleton’s approach to the Antarctic expedition; but haphazard, it was not. In March 1900, Shackleton
         had been on his second trooping voyage to South Africa in the Tintagel Castle. On board, he met a lieutenant in the East Surrey Regiment called Cedric Longstaff. Longstaff’s father, Llewellyn Longstaff,
         happened to be the principal benefactor of the National Antarctic Expedition. Shackleton had already heard of the expedition and of Mr Longstaff, for a year before Mr
         Longstaff had donated £25,000, which had made the expedition possible.
      

      
      In April 1899 the Prince of Wales (the future King Edward VII) became the expedition’s patron; in June, the Government gave
         a grant. Meanwhile, at the end of March, there returned to Punta Arenas, in the Straits of Magellan, a Belgian Antarctic expedition
         under Adrien de Gerlache. In his ship Belgica de Gerlache had been caught in the ice, and drifted for almost a year over the Bellingshausen Sea as far as 71°36′ south
         latitude. It had been a nightmare, but it was the first expedition ever to spend a winter in the Antarctic. All this, of course,
         was reported in the press. After sixty years’ quiescence, Antarctic exploration was being revived at last.
      

      
      The British expedition was the brainchild of Sir Clements Markham, KCB, the President of the Royal Geographical Society. Shackleton
         applied to join the RGS. Proposed by a cousin, William Bell, he was elected a Fellow in November 1899.
      

      
      The RGS was a typical Victorian institution, rooted in a desire for self-improvement and the propagation of knowledge. It
         welcomed anyone “interested in geography and discovery”. It was synonymous with official British exploration, and associated
         with the opening up of Africa – too much so, perhaps. When Stanley found Livingstone, “The Council of the Society,” to quote
         Hugh Robert Mill, its some time librarian, “thought it incongruous and almost an impertinence that a newspaper reporter should
         be successful where a British officer, backed by the authority of the Royal Geographical Society, had failed.” The society
         institutionalised the geographical aspect of the British Empire, then at its high noon.
      

      
      In January 1900, Shackleton offered the RGS an article on the winds and currents in the Atlantic, for its periodical, the
         Geographical Journal. It was gracefully refused on the grounds that everything had already “been worked out and published”.5 The journal used to keep Shackleton in touch with exploration, but it was the encounter with Cedric Longstaff that thrust
         opportunity in his path. He persuaded Longstaff to give him an introduction to his father.
      

      
      At the end of May, meanwhile, when Shackleton had returned to London, The Times carried a report that attracted his very keenest interest. A certain naval lieutenant, soon to be gazetted Commander, Robert
         F. Scott, had been appointed to command the Antarctic expedition. Scott, said The Times, “possesses one absolutely essential qualification for polar work – youth”, blandly going on to say that “As youth is essential, one without actual Polar experience has had to be selected …”6

      
      Today, it seems inconceivable that anyone so blatantly unprepared would be chosen to lead a British national enterprise. Then,
         however, things were different. During the Boer War the Westminster Gazette could head a leading article “The Virtue of Unpreparedness”, arguing that British aggression towards the Boers had been “finally
         refuted by the state of complete unpreparedness with which England entered the war.”7

      
      Shackleton could, at any rate, thoroughly applaud The Times when it declared that although Scott had no polar experience, “that is a small matter; any competent young officer will soon
         make himself familiar with what has been done and what remains to do.”8 Even more could he approve when The Times went on to say that “There can be little doubt that Lieutenant Scott will make the most of the splendid opportunity afforded
         him of … distinguishing himself as a leader.”9

      
      Exactly. If an obscure naval lieutenant, why not Ernest Shackleton? In seamanship, Shackleton had no reason to defer to Scott.
         Everybody knew that naval officers spent too much time in port. Although Scott had joined the Navy ten years before Shackleton
         first went to sea, in terms of actual sailing hours they were approximately level. And if youth was a criterion, Shackleton
         was twenty-six to Scott’s thirty years. (Actually thirty-two. The Times had considerately, or in error, lopped off two years.)
      

      
      There was other polar news to attract Shackleton’s interest that summer of 1900. Carsten Borchgrevink arrived in London. Borchgrevink
         was the first man to winter on the Antarctic continent. He had done so at Cape Adare, the tip of South Victoria Land, during
         1899. In an interview with the Westminster Gazette, Borchgrevink suggested that
      

      
      

         The Antarctic region may be another Klondyke … There are fish – fisheries might be established … There is quartz in which metals
            are to be seen.10

      



      
      There spoke someone after Shackleton’s heart. Borchgrevink was a restless, voluble and flamboyant Norwegian, with little more
         than ambition and personality on which to depend. In 1888, at the age of twenty-four, he went to Australia. At Melbourne,
         in 1894, after working variously as a labourer, surveyor and schoolmaster, Borchgrevink signed on a Norwegian sealer called
         Antarctic for a voyage to the Ross Sea.
      

      
      Antarctic had been sent out to investigate Antarctic whaling and sealing. Along the way, Borchgrevink was in a boat’s party that landed at Cape Adare, becoming one of the first men to set
         foot on the Antarctic continent. Then was kindled his ambition to become the first man to winter there.
      

      
      Four years later, after much wandering, antagonism and setback, Borchgrevink finally managed to raise money in London for
         his own expedition. In a ship called Southern Cross, he then returned to spend his historic winter of 1899 at Cape Adare. He had done rather more. As the Westminster Gazette put it, Borchgrevink had been “Furthest South with sledge – record – 78 deg. 58 min.”11 This was the first time that anyone had claimed, in those words, to have set a southern record. Borchgrevink had opened the
         race for the South Pole.
      

      
      For Shackleton, fretting in London on leave, it was a tumultuous summer. The war, of course, was the story of the day, and
         the tide seemed to have turned. On 19 May came the relief of Mafeking, and the outbreak of mass hysteria at the (delusive)
         prospect of imminent victory over the Boer. At the end of that month, however, Shackleton was touched personally by the war.
         His brother Frank was commissioned in the Royal Irish Fusiliers, bound for South Africa to take part in – so it seemed – mopping-up
         operations.
      

      
      Borchgrevink, nonetheless, was front-page news. What with him and Scott on the one hand, and his brother and the war on the
         other, Shackleton was hounded by a haunting fear of being left behind, a man of action frustrated to the core. His twenty-sixth
         birthday had passed without a goal in sight. The National Antarctic Expedition seemed the gateway to salvation.
      

      
      There was no obvious reason why the polar regions should appear to be the path to fame and fortune. Borchgrevink was a nine
         days’ wonder, but the arrival of the polar explorer as hero was due to the illustrious Norwegian, Fridtjof Nansen. In 1895,
         Nansen set a new record – 86° 16′ – for the Furthest North. More important was the way he achieved it. For three years, he
         was lost in the Arctic. He had contrived a revolutionary method of freezing a specially built ship – the From (“Forwards”) – into the sea ice and drifting with the pack. With one companion, Hjalmar Johansen, he had then made an epic
         dash north over the ice with dogs and sledges. That turned into a saga of survival. When Nansen came back to civilisation
         in 1896, he seemed to have returned from the dead. More to the point, the romantic image of a moody Viking, with an overwhelming
         force of personality, was the stuff out of which the press could make a popular hero. The world was so completely at his feet
         that, as Hugh Robert Mill described seeing Nansen off at Victoria after a visit to London,
      

      
      


         a page-boy from his hotel jumped on to the moving foot-board and seized Nansen’s hand; and as he dropped off, shouted “I’m
            the last man to shake hands with him!”12

      



      
      This was the folklore tugging at Shackleton’s romantic imagination.

      
      Armed with Cedric Longstaff’s introduction to his father, Shackleton went down to visit him at his home in Wimbledon. Llewellyn
         Longstaff was a trained chemist, partly educated in Germany, which at the time was far ahead in chemistry. It was one of the
         secrets of her growing industrial power. Longstaff himself was a successful industrialist, a company director, and a retired
         Lieutenant-Colonel of Volunteers – whom the Daily Chronicle described as
      

      
      

         a quiet, pleasant business-like man, barely sixty, his interest in Polar enterprise comes rather as a surprise to his friends,
            who have been wont to associate his liberality and good nature rather with promoting good relations between Yorkshire operatives
            and their employers.13

      



      
      Like Shackleton, Mr Longstaff was a FRGS. Besides, he was pleased to receive anyone who had recently seen his son. He was
         overwhelmed by Shackleton’s scintillating personality. When Shackleton asked his help in joining the expedition, Mr Longstaff
         could hardly refuse. It was only then, with Mr Longstaff’s certain patronage, that Shackleton finally made his approach.
      

      
      In October, however, when he went back to sea, it was under sentence of uncertainty. For months, his case hung fire. Shuttling
         between Southampton and the Cape, first on the Gaika, then on the Carisbrook Castle, Shackleton fretted under the suffocating sense of marking time. Meanwhile Llewellyn Longstaff had made it clear to Sir Clements
         Markham that he wanted Shackleton accepted. Sir Clements was anxious to oblige. He knew he would soon have to go begging for
         money again.
      

      
      Sir Clements, in turn, told Scott; and Scott, saying that he “had no time to attend to it”,14 left the matter to Albert Armitage, his second-in-command. Armitage, as he put it, “made very full enquiries” about Shackleton,
      

      
      

         and found every one speak well of him … The Marine Superintendent and his Captain in the [Union Castle] line both told me
            that he was more intelligent than the average officer. His brother officers considered him to be a very good fellow …15

      



      
      
      Early in March 1901, Shackleton returned to Southampton on the Carisbrook Castle to find himself part of the National Antarctic Expedition at last. He had been appointed on 17 February,16 while still at sea. He had leave from the Union Castle Line into the bargain, so that there was the belly-comfort of something
         to come back to. He paid off, and hurried to London to present himself at the expedition offices.
      

   



      
      
      IV

      
      National Antarctic Expedition

      
      The offices of the National Antarctic Expedition bore, as one journalist put it, “a most business-like aspect. Skeleton sleighs
         are reared up in a corner, and on the floor are piles of sample skin suits to be worn amid the eternal ice and snow.”1

      
      This was the setting for Shackleton’s first encounter, face to face, with Scott. Encased in the high white starched collars
         of the period, they tried to size each other up. They had much in common. Both were opportunists. Each doubted his own professional
         prospects. Neither was particularly interested in ice or snow or exploration as such, but both saw in the expedition a pathway
         to success. Each would cheerfully have done anything else that promised personal advancement. Both were burning with ambition.
         Shackleton, however, the Anglo-Irishman, half poet, half buccaneer, showed it openly. Scott, high-minded, and altogether more
         prosaic, hid it well.
      

      
      Scott’s “forte”, in the words of a contemporary, was that he was “very prepossessing”.2 The same could safely have been said of Shackleton himself. Both he and Scott possessed charm, and each used it as he could,
         but one thing at least was clear to Shackleton, as he peered across the heavy, dulled oaken table, trying to make his leader
         out. Scott, newly promoted Commander and strangely awkward in his clothes, was the weaker personality and somehow uncertain
         of himself. He was distinctly on his guard. Shackleton knew why this was. He himself was an intruder; Sir Clements Markham
         had been crusading for a Royal Navy expedition.
      

      
      Through precedent elevated to a principle, British polar exploration had become a naval preserve and, like most Englishmen
         of the day, Sir Clements considered the Royal Navy, then the largest on earth, the agent of national prestige. (Although as Captain Sir Seymour Fortescue rather acidly put it: “The ignorance of
         the British public of everything regarding the Navy can only be described as colossal.”3) Besides, said Sir Clements,
      

      
      

         The Navy needs some action to wake it up from the canker of prolonged peace. Polar exploration is more wholesome for it, in
            a moral as well as a sanitary point of view, than any more petty wars with savages.4

      



      
      Now seventy, venerable in appearance; high-minded, yet devious, cunning, complacent, self-seeking, and a master of intrigue,
         Markham might have stepped out of a novel by Trollope. He usually got his own way. The Admiralty, however, was not impressed
         with his plans for the expedition. Their lordships had lost interest in exploration a generation before, and declined to organise
         an expedition now; so Sir Clements had to settle for a private one manned by a naval crew. The Admiralty reluctantly agreed
         to lend some men, but not enough. The rest had, perforce, to come from the Mercantile Marine.
      

      
      Shackleton, therefore, faced Scott as one of a not wholly welcome faction. Armitage, from the P. & O. Line, was the other
         officer on the expedition from the Mercantile Marine but they were two merchant officers amongst four naval ones. Each service
         regarded the other with a whiff of mutual disrespect, which went as far back as Elizabethan days. The merchant seaman felt
         that he did all the work; the naval, that he did the more honourable work of fighting. Such attitudes were hardened by the
         historical fact that the business of navigating warships used to be left to impressed merchant mates. The legacy of this was
         that the merchant service regarded the Navy with genial scorn, while the other way about, the feeling was of social superiority.
      

      
      Shackleton knew only that his chance had come. Aptly for an Edwardian, it had come at the very start of Edward VII’s reign.
         On 22 January 1901, as Sir Clements Markham recorded in his diary, Queen Victoria
      

      
      

         died at a good old age, after the longest and most prosperous reign on record. I first saw her when Princess, at a great dinner
            given by William IV, in August 1836 … Sixty years after I first saw her, when infirm and old, she gave me the acolade [sic] on both shoulders and called me “Sir Clements”.5

      



      
      After sixty-four years, the Victorian age had come to an end. “The sensation of universal change,” wrote Lady Battersea in
         her diary, “haunted me more than any other sensation”;6 and as The Times put it in a leading article:
      

      
      

         We are finding ourselves somewhat less secure of our position than we could desire, and somewhat less abreast of the problems
            of the age than we ought to be, considering the initial advantages we secured … Others have learned our lessons, and bettered
            our instructions while we have been too easily content to rely upon the methods which were effective a generation or two ago.7

      



      
      Yet only three weeks before, on New Year’s day, The Times had written that
      

      
      

         We enter upon the new century with a heritage of achievement and glory older, more continuous and not less splendid than that
            of any nation in the world … with a people prosperous, contented, manly, intelligent and self-reliant, we may look forward
            with good hope to the storms and conflicts that may await us.8

      



      
      A sense of foreboding was the hallmark of the Edwardians. The Boer War had sounded the tocsin. The British no longer felt
         unquestionably masters of the world. Germany, bursting with military and industrial power, was emerging as the national rival.
      

      
      London, however, was still the capital of a world power and the hub of Empire. Shackleton was in the very centre of it all.
         Breezily settling down to work, he was at the least determined to enjoy every minute before sailing. He started by working
         at the expedition office. That lay in the very heart of the West End, a stone’s throw from Piccadilly, in the old London University
         buildings in Burlington Gardens, at the corner of Bond Street. For the first time in his life, he had escaped from a provincial
         or suburban setting. No longer was he the abstemious young Puritan; now he smoked and drank regularly. He mingled in his off
         moments with the top-hatted and elaborately dressed saunterers, the women rustling with the frou-frou of silk. He imagined,
         no doubt, how nice it would be to have money of his own, lots of it, so that he could really belong.
      

      
      To escape the murmuring of augurs, London was becoming a city of castles in the air. This absolutely suited Shackleton, for
         if ever there was a builder of such insubstantial properties, it was he. The National Antarctic Expedition soon became to
         him a certitude of fame and fortune, and this was the message he conveyed convincingly to Emily Dorman. Emily was now living
         in Wetherby Gardens, South Kensington, with her father, who had moved there the previous year from Sydenham. So Shackleton could prosecute his love affair without the surrogate of letters. By now he
         had decided that she was going to be his wife. She, on the other hand, was not so sure. He naturally favoured a whirlwind
         fulfilment. The whirlwind was there all right, but custom demanded a corybantic mating dance. Whenever he could, Shackleton
         was off to call on Emily, not by the newly electrified Underground but by hansom cab. London was still a city of horses, the
         sound of traffic still the clatter of hooves, its smell that of dung and urine. Nonetheless Emily Dorman was only – as she
         would still be today – about half an hour from the expedition office.
      

      
      Equally important, in the office, Shackleton was at the centre of the enterprise. It was a place of potentially profitable
         contacts and not only among those connected with the expedition. He had, in any case, considerably impressed Sir Clements
         Markham, and frequently found himself asked to lunch at Sir Clements’ home down in Pimlico, among the colonnaded porticoes
         of Eccleston Square.
      

      
      Sir Clements saw in Shackleton something of himself; more so perhaps than he saw in Scott, his own particular protégé. Shackleton,
         as Sir Clements approvingly observed at the outset, though Irish, was “originally Yorkshire”,9 and Sir Clements, as he never forgot, was a Yorkshireman himself. Both were old public schoolboys – Sir Clements was at Westminster.
         Both had left school early to go to sea – Sir Clements in the Navy – and both made up for defective education by voracious
         reading. Shackleton, as Sir Clements put it, was “remarkably well informed considering the rough life he has led”.10 In his voluminous diaries, Sir Clements entered vivid pen portraits, biographies and genealogies of the young men whom he
         met. They were many, chiefly naval officers of whom he was very fond. The entries for the expedition members were detailed
         and discursive. Shackleton’s lineage, for instance, was traced back three hundred years. The expedition, as Sir Clements summed
         it up,
      

      
      

         was fortunate in finding such an excellent and zealous officer as Ernest Shackleton … He is a steady, high-principled young
            man full of zeal, strong and hard working and exceedingly good tempered … A marvel of intelligent energy.11

      



      
      Shackleton, meanwhile, did not spend all his time at Burlington Gardens. On 21 March, a bare fortnight after he returned to
         England, Discovery, the expedition ship, was launched at Dundee.
      

      
      Discovery was probably the last big wooden sailing ship built in Britain. She had steam auxiliary engines, coal fired. Polar navigation, however, still needed a wooden ship, for elasticity,
         to avoid being crushed in the ice. Sail was needed to eke out fuel. Because of its bulk, not enough coal could be carried
         and, away from bunkers, off the shipping routes, steaming range was limited.
      

      
      Shackleton had made much of his experience in sail when he applied to the expedition. He was now sent up to help supervise
         Discovery’s acceptance trials off the Tay. Scott himself was usually absent being, in the words of the Pall Mall Gazette, “too busily engaged in organizational work in London”.12 As Shackleton had quickly learned, Scott was not yet secure in his post, and he had to stay in London to look after his interests.
         There was actually a plot to remove him from command, and it was during the climax of this cabal that Shackleton walked into
         the expedition.
      

      
      About Scott’s appointment, as Rear-Admiral Sir William Wharton put it, there had been “much indignation”. The story started
         with Sir Clements Markham.
      

      
      In April the year before, Sir Clements had asked the Admiralty for the loan of some naval officers. He then, in Sir William’s
         words, calmly told the expedition’s executive committee “that he did not name the officers, & that the Admiralty selected
         them themselves”. That, Sir William agitatedly wrote to Admiral Lord Walter Kerr, the First Sea Lord, was “not correct”.
      

      
      Sir William was well placed to detect the brazen shiftiness of Sir Clements Markham, for Sir William happened to be on the
         executive committee himself. He was, moreover, the Hydrographer (chief surveyor of the Navy) and worked at the Admiralty.
         There, the “Antarctic documents”, in his own words, “all come to me in connection with fitting out the expedition.”13 Sir William noticed that Sir Clements actually had written to Lord Walter asking for “Lieut. Robert F. Scott … to command
         the expedition.”14

      
      For twenty years, first as Honorary Secretary, and then as President, of the RGS, Sir Clements had campaigned for the resumption
         of British Antarctic exploration. This had virtually ceased since the great pioneering voyage of Sir James Clark Ross from
         1840 to 1843. In a combative life, Sir Clements had fought for causes as diverse as the rehabilitation of Richard III and
         the abolition of flogging in the Royal Navy. It was, however, the campaign for Antarctic exploration that marked him most,
         because there he had the maddening experience of fighting against the compact indifference of British public life.
      

      
      All the while, Sir Clements had been looking for the leader of the future expedition who, he decided, should naturally be
         a naval officer. Although his brief naval career ended in 1852 Sir Clements, through friends and relations, had maintained intimate contact with the service, and literally hundreds of officers passed
         under his review. Among them happened to be Scott.
      

      
      Scott was a well built and, to quote one of his captains, an “amiable & promising young officer”.15 He was also rather dull and conventional, a contrast to the rebelliousness of both Shackleton and Sir Clements. He was born
         in Devon, the third of six children. He compliantly entered the Navy at the behest of his father, a not too successful Plymouth
         brewer. His mother was a dominating paragon of formidable respectability. He was an ordinary scion of an ordinary middle-class
         family. He was at home in an hierarchy. He was all that Shackleton was not.
      

      
      Scott was good at passing examinations. Nonetheless, he somehow did not fulfil the promise he seemed to have shown. He himself
         feared for his promotion. To improve his professional prospects, he qualified as a torpedo lieutenant in 1893. The commander
         of the torpedo training school at Portsmouth was then complaining of the small number and poor calibre of applicants for the
         course. In any case, in 1899, as torpedo lieutenant on HMS Majestic, Scott chanced to meet Sir Clements Markham once more after several years.
      

      
      Sir Clements by then had finally got the Discovery expedition under way. He was, however, still looking for a commander. For various reasons his first choices had all declined
         the bait; partly perhaps because Sir Clements had a talent for blighting the causes he espoused. So Scott, by now a very senior
         lieutenant, importuned Sir Clements; and Sir Clements, like many another manipulator, fell prey to manipulation himself. He
         adopted Scott as his candidate to command the expedition.
      

      
      All along Sir Clements had hidden his own interest and insinuated that the Admiralty had appointed Scott. “The Admiralty,”
         Sir William Wharton reminded Lord Walter Kerr, “took no such step … May I,” he went on, “have your permission to quote this
         fact?”16 Lord Walter replied,
      

      
      

         No objection, as no appointments have been made though officers asked for were promised to Sir C. Markham.17

      



      
      All this, Sir William felt, was “most important”. The executive committee

      
      

         had no authority to select the officers, especially the one for command, putting aside for the moment that Markham was acting
            without their knowledge, so it makes his action doubly reprehensible.
         

      



      
      
      For the good of the expedition, Sir William concluded,

      
      

         it is absolutely necessary to nip at once the assumption of supreme authority on the part of one man or we shall be led we
            know not where & come to grief.18

      



      
      The conflict went deeper than any naval doubts over a naval officer. Its roots lay in profoundly different views of polar
         exploration.
      

      
      The expedition was jointly sponsored by the RGS and the Royal Society. The RGS put its money on geographical discovery, but
         the Royal Society, a scientific academy, was interested in science.
      

      
      Sir Clements saw the explorer in his historical guise of a man who simply wanted to see what was over the next hill. Scientists,
         in his not unjustifiable opinion, were undesirable camp followers who impeded the business of discovery by pottering about
         in the field – “Mud larkers”, Sir Clements liked to call them. “These mud larkers,” he wrote to John Scott Keltie, the RGS
         Secretary, “coolly ask us to turn our expedition into a cruise for their purposes”.19

      
      Sir Clements wanted Scott to be not only captain of the ship, but undisputed commander of the whole expedition. The Royal
         Society, on the other hand, saw Scott merely as a skilled servant to transport their scientists. The scientific director,
         their nominee, would be overlord of the expedition. A feud was, naturally, the result and one which involved more than mere
         division of responsibility.
      

      
      The scientific director was Dr J. W. Gregory. He was no academic dodderer and besides being a distinguished geologist, was
         an explorer in his own right. He had been to Africa, where he achieved lasting fame by exploring and naming the Great Rift
         Valley in Kenya. He was an accomplished mountaineer, and had been with Sir Martin Conway (a well-known climber) on the first
         crossing of Spitsbergen. He was one of the few men on the Antarctic expedition with any polar experience, and incontestably
         the most accomplished. He had, in the words of a friend, a “remarkable personality … free from assumption or arrogance [but]
         it was very unwise to assume that you knew more of any subject than Gregory did … as in the quietest possible manner he would
         produce some devastating facts, well attested but not widely known …”20 Gregory voiced the fears of many when he wrote that
      

      
      

         Scott … has no experience of expedition equipment … On questions of furs, sledges, ski etc., his ignorance is appalling … he
            does not seem at all conscious of these facts or inclined to get [the] experience necessary.21

      



      
      
      Shackleton might have laughed – or bridled – had he heard of this, for it applied equally, of course, to himself. Both he
         and Scott accepted the national myth that improvisation was best. Gregory, on the other hand, believed in proper preparation.
         He wanted the expedition members to “gain experience in ice work and on ski in Switzerland during the coming summer”. He himself
         had gone out to Australia (he had recently been appointed to the chair of Geology at Melbourne University) where he proposed
         “taking out ski to practise on the Australian Alps this season and [I] think the others should arrange for similar training”.22

      
      To Sir Clements, this was unmanly and undesirable, although the expedition – usually called Discovery, after the ship – seemed conspicuously deficient in men with experience of snow and ice. In any case, Sir Clements seemed
         infatuated with Scott, and would tolerate no threat to his supremacy. Against him stood the Royal Society, but, in the words
         of one opponent,
      

      
      

         Markham is a man … the others are mere invertebrates … We all confess (as I do) to a sneaking admiration of Markham’s energy
            & fighting power.23

      



      
      In the middle of May, as Sir Clements had been scheming, Gregory was forced to resign. Scott was now not only captain of the
         ship, but the undisputed head of the whole expedition.
      

      
      The consequences were fateful, They went far beyond personalities. Gregory was not the only competent leader available. There
         was his old chief in Spitsbergen, Sir Martin Conway. Better still perhaps, was David Hanbury, a young Englishman who had spent
         two years in the Canadian Arctic making himself into a master of polar travel, and who now happened to be in London. Neither
         was approached, however. Sir Clements seemed wilfully to have ignored the professional talent at his disposal and ensured
         that British polar exploration remained indisputably amateur.
      

      
      “It seems doubtful,” Gregory had written, when arguing for a captain from the merchant service, “whether a first-class naval
         officer would … be willing to bury himself in the Antarctic for three years, and whether the Admiralty would give the necessary
         leave of absence to any of its best men.”24 The Admiralty could hardly have put it better themselves. Previous naval expeditions had ended in disaster. They had no desire
         to risk public obloquy by taking responsibility for yet another questionable undertaking. It was only with almost comical
         reluctance that they had countenanced a naval commander for Discovery. In any case Scott, as Gregory put it, no doubt echoing Admiralty opinion, was “a mechanical engineer [referring to his torpedo specialisation], not a sailor”.
      

      
      

         I think he is a poor organiser. His departments are in arrears and he is so casual in all his business. He appears to trust
            to luck what ought to be a matter of precise calculation.25

      



      
      Amongst other things, this led to a last-minute rush, in dealing with which Shackleton bustled round to help. As Sir Clements
         noted at the end of April, Shackleton came
      

      
      

         to luncheon about the Discovery’s library. He is also getting plays and looking out for presents of wigs and dresses for the theatricals.26

      



      
      Amateur theatricals were an absolutely essential part of Victorian polar expeditions, which Sir Clements was determined to
         preserve.
      

      
      Early in June, Discovery sailed down from Dundee to the East India Docks in London for lading. Shackleton had signed on as Third Mate, and was given
         the job of stowing ship. This was the skill of the merchant, not the naval officer. Twice he was interrupted. He spent a few
         days at Aldershot with the Royal Engineers, learning to fly a captive balloon, which Discovery was taking for reconnaissance. (The Wright brothers’ flight was still two years in the future.) Then Shackleton went down
         to the Thames estuary to test detonators for freeing Discovery, if need be, from the ice. The expedition’s supplies meanwhile, were landing at the quayside haphazardly and late, so that
         Shackleton found himself working against time.
      

      
      That could be said of his love affair as well. Emily was in love, or thought she was in love, with someone else.

      
      

         Well I know that I was the interloper [Shackleton wrote to her at a moment when the written, not the spoken word seemed best]:
            if a man who loves a woman much, so much that it seems his whole life hangs on her way with him, can be called an interloper.
            Child I suppose it is mans way to want a woman altogether to himself: I said it in the old days “Love me only a little, just
            a little” and now it seems as I grow older I am saying “Love me altogether and only me” And I know you told me all in the
            beginning: and I have nothing to offer you: I am poor: I am not clever, it is as wicked of me to want you to keep caring for
            me when my name is “Nemo” as it is to make or do other wrongs … when like today you spoke about him: something catches at
            my heart and I feel lost, out in the cold … why did I not know you first? Why did you not tremble to my touch first of all
            the men in this world. Of all tales of love and sorrow I feel ours stand out for there was no hope in the beginning and there is none now …27

      



      
      But there was hope, of course; with Shackleton there usually was. Discovery sailed down the Thames on 31 July, as planned. Shackleton announced that all his family come to see him off in one place would be too much. He sent his three youngest sisters downriver to the Albert
         Docks to wave as Discovery sailed by. They were, as one of them recalled, “armed with semaphore flags (Ernest had taught us signalling), and as he passed
         we saw Ernest bring out a white handkerchief, then turn to someone, borrow another, then he signalled three times, ‘Goodbye
         Helen, goodbye Kathleen, goodbye Gladys’, in strict old nursery order of precedence.”
      

      
      By then, Shackleton had settled his affair with Emily Dorman – up to a point. He had more or less replaced the “other”, and
         she had more or less agreed to marry him. He still had to secure Mr Dorman’s approval, however, for Emily, although well past
         the age of majority, accepted the convention that a woman needed her father’s permission to marry.
      

      
      Shackleton delayed writing to Mr Dorman until London had been left astern. Before departing from the shores of England, Discovery had to swing compasses at Stokes Bay, near Portsmouth and there, between land and sea, Shackleton finally wrote to his prospective
         father-in-law. He was, as he put it, going on the expedition
      

      
      

         mainly for one reason … to get on so that when I come back or later when I have made money I might with your permission marry
            Emily if she still cares for me as I feel she does now: it is needless to say that I care for her more than anyone else in
            the world, but I fully see the difficulties in the way as regards my not having money, but time will overcome that and you
            not object [sic] if I have sufficient to keep her as you would wish … my future is all to make but I intend making it quickly: I would have
            spoken to you myself before only Emily had not given me a full answer. Now I feel it is all right so am asking you not now
            but when I have made money or position and money to marry her.28

      



      
      Shackleton had, once more, eschewed the spoken word. He was probably correct. Face to face, Mr Dorman might well have said
         “no”; with pen in hand second thoughts could get to work.
      

      
      At the eleventh hour, the expedition had been rescued from the glory-hole of esoteric enterprises. Sir Clements Markham may
         have been a wily and ruthless intriguer but no one, to quote Hugh Robert Mill, who knew him well, could take him “for anything but the patriotic supporter of Church and State; the vehement
         supporter of England’s glory in every path of enterprise”.29 In the words of Admiral Fitzgerald, an early supporter, the expedition encouraged
      

      
      

         that insatiable desire which our country has of planting the British flag upon every barren rock in the ocean and every desert
            sand in Africa, or every mount of snow or ice in-the Arctic or Antarctic … I believe that desire would carry you to the moon
            if there were only a way.30

      



      
      It was undoubtedly a patriotic, not to say an imperial venture; and Shackleton, at least now that he was on his way, was partly,
         like others, swayed by patriotism and the imperial sentiment. Indeed, as the expedition sailed, it became an antidote to the
         dismal news from South Africa, where the war dragged on and the British Army still seemed baffled by the Boer. As the Morning Post put it,
      

      
      

         Even in the last throes of an exhausting struggle, we can yet spare the energy and the men to add to the triumphs we have
            already won in the peaceful but heroic field of exploration …31

      



      
      Or, to quote another kind of comment in The Referee,
      

      
      

         At the Pole, at the Pole,

         Britannia’s pretty sure to reach her goal;

         Her ever-conquering legions,

         Will annex those distant regions,

         And make a new dominion of the Pole.32

      



      
      The South Pole itself was the reason for the change of attitude. Just before departure it was officially announced that the
         expedition, in the words of a versifier, “means to reach the spot”.33 Press coverage was not exactly sensational because, as the Daily Express put it, “The South Pole has never caught the popular imagination as its Northern fellow has done”:
      

      
      

         It is inconveniently distant from any European base. So its environment remains a kind of silence and mist and vague terrors.34

      



      
      Nonetheless, it was well worth a paragraph or two. Discovery, said the Daily Express, would sail “with the hearty good wishes of all who hope that the race for the South Pole will be won by the first naval
         Power of the World”.35

      
      Before finally putting to sea, Discovery was commanded to Cowes to be inspected by the King. It was Cowes Week, the zenith of the yachting year, part regatta, part aristocratic social function,
         twin of Royal Ascot. After the years of his mother’s dampening seclusion, Edward VII was making an occasion of everything
         he could.
      

      
      Bearded, portly and a rake, Edward VII was, nonetheless, as Admiral Fisher put it, “every inch a King!” He loved dressing
         up and putting on a show, and was piped aboard Discovery wearing his admiral’s uniform. The ship’s company was mostly in naval uniform too. Even Shackleton sparkled with the scintilla
         of gold braid. With the help of Sir Clements Markham, he had obtained a commission in the Royal Naval Reserve, and he appeared
         in all the glory of a sub-lieutenant’s single, twisted stripe.
      

      
      In his guttural, almost German accent the King, with the legendary genial aloofness of the British royal family, spoke a few
         words to most on board, Shackleton included. Between them was a hidden bond. King Edward was a prominent Freemason. Less than
         a month earlier, on 9 July, Shackleton had become a Freemason himself. On 9 April, Scott had become one too.
      

      
      On the face of it, the explanation was simple. Freemasonry was strong in the Navy. Admiral Lord Charles Beresford, Commander
         of the Channel Fleet, for example, was a well-known Freemason. So was Vice-Admiral Sir Harry Rawson, who had first recommended
         Scott for promotion. Sir Harry happened to be Grand Master of the Navy Lodge, into which Shackleton was initiated.
      

      
      In the words of its Constitutions, Freemasonry

      
      

         is the centre of union between good men and true, and the happy means of conciliating friendship amongst those who must otherwise
            have remained at a perpetual distance.36

      



      
      Or, as an eighteenth-century tract baldly put it,

      
      

         Masonry … provides … no small advantage to a man who would rise in the world.37

      



      
      Nonetheless, Shackleton was not driven by self-interest alone. Freemasonry is many things. It is a fraternity, entry to which
         depends on the approval of the members. It is a secret society. It is an organisation for mutual help. It is also an ethical
         code. It promotes conviviality. According to a French writer, it mitigated the coarseness of eighteenth-century English drinking
         habits by a “sort of homeopathic treatment of a national vice, allowing Bacchus his share, but only his share”.38 Beyond all this, Freemasonry is a religion without church or dogma. It accepts those who believe in one God, by whatever
         name, and in whatever way. It provides an outlet for religious feelings without the constraint of cult or clergy.
      

      
      For Shackleton, this was important. The Masonic concept of God as the Great Architect of the Universe, the symbolic use of
         the craft of masonry, the regalia, the appearance of jewels and a blazing star in Masonic ritual, all appealed to his temperament.
         So too did the air of mystery, the promise of esoteric knowledge, the secret signs of recognition. The ceremony of initiation
         involved being led blindfolded into the Lodge with a halter round his neck and promising never to reveal the secrets of Freemasonry,
         to quote The Complete Workings of Craft Freemasonry,
      

      
      

         under the no less penalty on the violation … than that of having my throat cut across, my tongue torn out by the root, and
            buried in the sand of the sea at low water, or a cable’s length from the shore, where the tide regularly ebbs and flows twice
            in twenty-four hours, or the more effectual punishment of being branded a wilfully perjured individual, void of all moral
            worth and totally unfit to be received into the worshipful Lodge … or society of men who prize honour and virtue above the
            external advantage of rank and fortune.39

      



      
      All this seemed far removed from the company on Discovery – or was it? The King, after all, had once undergone the same ceremony as well.
      

      
      With the King on board was Queen Alexandra, who particularly noticed Shackleton. The King’s naval equerry, Vice-Admiral Sir
         Henry Stephenson, was present too. So was Llewellyn Longstaff, another Freemason as it happened. On the deck, other distinguished
         visitors strolled, and on the water round about lay the yachts of the rich and the great. It was different from the usual
         merchant ship’s unremarked departure from dingy wharf or dilapidated jetty. Shackleton, in a few months had come far. He might
         almost pretend that he had arrived. At any rate, the obscure Third Officer of the Carisbrook Castle had become one of the accredited heroes pursuing Britain’s imperial destiny. Emily had come down to see him off. How could
         Mr Dorman, a loyal subject, now be beastly to him in cold blood?
      

      
      There could be no answer before Discovery finally left. Shackleton had seen to that. His letter to Mr Dorman was dated 3 August, a Saturday. The following Monday –
         the day of the royal inspection – was August Bank Holiday, and the next day – Tuesday 6 August – Discovery put to sea. Mr Dorman was only able to reply two days later. By then he had read in the press all about the royal scene on
         deck:
      

      
      


         My dear Ernest, I sincerely & heartily wish you a safe voyage & a happy return some 2 or 3 years hence having accomplished
            the arduous task before you & that you will be able to tell us what the Antarctic really is. I can only now say that if &
            whenever the time comes when you are in the pecuniary position you-long for & that if you & Emmy are still of the same mind
            my consent to your union will not be wanting.40

      



      
      Until this letter overtook him somewhere at a port of call, Shackleton would have to bear with the suspense.

   



      
      
      V

      
      Discovery

      
      Shackleton was back on the familiar windjammer route, with its wide sweep down to the Cape, and then eastwards through the
         Roaring Forties to New Zealand. It was like the old days in the Hoghton Tower, although Discovery was no full rigger, but a barque.
      

      
      Unexpectedly on board was Hugh Robert Mill, who had joined by what amounted to a pierhead jump. Almost a decade as RGS librarian
         had proved that he was a man with whom it was impossible to quarrel. At the eleventh hour, the scientific arrangements were
         suddenly found to be in total disarray. Although Mill had helped to organise the expedition, he had stood aside from the various
         controversies. Four days before Discovery left, Scott asked him to sail as far as Madeira and bring order out of muddle.
      

      
      Geographer, meteorologist and oceanographer, Mill was a Scot from Caithness, near John o’Groats, and since childhood he had
         been in love with polar exploration. “No land,” he explained, “lies between the shore of my place of birth … and the North
         Pole.”1 Poor sight and ill health – and Sir Clements Markham – however, had kept him away from the polar regions. Three years before,
         Mill had been asked to sail in a yacht on a summer cruise to the Arctic. Sir Clements refused to give him leave from the RGS.
         “The proper place of a librarian,” as Sir Clements put it, “is in the library.”2 When the call to Discovery came, Mill had just left the RGS to become director of the British Rainfall Association, a forerunner of the Meteorological
         Office. Nonetheless, he dropped his work and went. It was a chance which, at the age of forty, he felt he could not miss.
      

      
      Mill was expected to turn some of the ship’s company into scientific observers from scratch, following the expedition’s philosophy, as it was expressed to the Daily News, that “there is nothing to learn that any smart naval officer cannot learn in a couple of days’ time”.3 Replacing “naval” with “merchant”, Ernest Shackleton wholeheartedly agreed. He cheerfully promised to take the density and
         salinity of the sea water during the voyage but, as Mill recalled,
      

      
      

         He found the minute accuracy required rather irksome and was long in grasping the importance of writing down one reading of
            an instrument before making the next.4

      



      
      Nonetheless, said Mill, Shackleton’s “inexhaustible good humour made correction easy”.5 Mill also had another point of view:
      

      
      

         I always associate Shackleton with the starlight of a summer night in the Bay of Biscay. I had known him for a year before,
            but it was on the bridge of the Discovery from midnight on, as the ship was rolling southward that I discovered his individuality and recognised how he differed in
            turn of phrase and trend of mind from the other splendid fellows [on board]. To tell the truth, I was at first surprised and
            a little alarmed at the ceaseless flow of quotation from the poets called forth by the summer night, the stars, the phosphorescence
            of the sea, and the thought of those he left behind him. Nor was it altogether pleasant to find that this young sailor was
            already familiar with every reference which rose to my mind from books I had read years before his thoughts had turned that
            way, and with many which I had never seen.6

      



      
      Thin, quiet, bespectacled, Mill was every inch the academic. He ought to have been drawn more to Scott, who nursed scientific
         ambitions, than to Shackleton. Mill, however, did not share the reigning moralistic and exalted view of science:
      

      
      

         The tradition of inaccessibility is a challenge to humanity … the desire to wipe out terra incognita appeals more deeply to certain instincts of human nature than either science or trade, and the rough-and-ready test of highest
            latitude is in one sense a gauge of human progress.7

      



      
      Frustrated in action, Mill sought vicarious experience through knowing polar explorers, and he had met most of them including
         Nansen. Like most Scots boys, Mill had been brought up on Carlyle and hero worship. The polar explorer he saw as the archetype
         of the heroic figure, and he evidently saw in Shackleton the closest approximation on board to his ideal. Mill did not, however,
         look through rose-hued spectacles and, as he put it afterwards, “To Shackleton the National Antarctic Expedition was an opportunity and nothing more. He would have tried to join
         just as eagerly a ship bound to seek buried treasure on the Spanish Main, or to scour the Atlantic in search of the Island
         of St Brendan”.8

      
      Perhaps there was a corner of Hugh Robert Mill that would have done so too. At any rate, when he left Discovery at Madeira on 15 August to return to England, he and Shackleton had found in each other lifelong friends.
      

      
      As the expedition sailed on from Madeira, Shackleton wrote in his diary:

      
      

         The ship steered badly, there being too much sail aft and not enough forward. I am afraid this … will be a serious matter
            when we get down South, but we hope to devise some way out of the difficulty. As we leave behind the stars under which dwell
            all whom I love, I feel that another link is snapping in the chain …9

      



      
      This abrupt switch of thought was characteristic, but there was in any case good reason for Shackleton’s sudden foreboding.
         Discovery was bound for some of the roughest waters in the world: after leaving Madeira sailing ships would pick up the north-east
         trade winds, and for a new vessel this was her first proper trial.
      

      
      Most polar expeditions used converted whalers or sealers. Sir Clements Markham, when he first mooted the idea of building
         a ship specially for the purpose, considered doing so in Norway. “The cost would be much less than in England,” he explained.
         “And, moreover … there are few, if any, wooden ships … built in England now-a-days.”10 Sir Clements wanted the work done by Colin Archer, the Norwegian of Scots descent who had built Nansen’s Fram, the most famous polar ship of all. In the end, however, Sir Clements patriotically decided on an all-British ship instead.
         The upshot was that Discovery cost about twice what Archer would have charged (£45,000 against £20,000) and, as J. W. Gregory put it, was being “sent on
         a mission for which she is ill-fitted”. Amongst other things, she was “under-rigged, [also] having insufficient coal capacity
         for wide-ranging geographical adventures”.11

      
      Discovery was built by the Dundee Shipbuilders, the last of the yards making the old Dundee whalers. Had Sir Clements not meddled with
         the yard, a Dundee whaler is what he would have got, and a proven, if expensive, polar ship. With his naval fixation, however,
         he insisted on a naval designer. He thus ensured an unlovely compromise.
      

      
      
      Discovery was a barque; a three-masted vessel, square-rigged on fore and main, fore-and-aft on mizzen. Her masts were too short, and
         badly placed. Her lines were ugly and ineptly conceived. As she lurched over the South Atlantic swell, those on board were
         hardly comforted to know that W. E. Smith, the Admiralty constructor who designed her, also happened to have designed the
         Royal yacht Victoria and Albert, which threatened to turn turtle when launched, and needed 140 tons of ballast to float upright.
      

      
      Outwardly, Shackleton was very much the breezy Irishman, the extrovert, the irrepressible optimist; but his shipmates would
         have been surprised to know his private feelings, as Discovery entered the tropics:
      

      
      

         The day is garish now, there are no shadows and often one longs even for the Shade of a city wall, but the sea is on every
            side; and all I want lies beyond it.12

      



      
      And after crossing the equator, on 31 August:

      
      

         We have lost the Polar Star, and it will be a long, long time before the “old lost stars wheel back”.13

      



      
      Partly this was pining for Emily; but partly also because Scott lacked the gift of running a happy ship. “I have never thought
         him evil,” Gregory’s mother-in-law had written during the leadership controversy, “but he is an inexperienced young man without
         imagination, which will to some extent supply the place of experience”.14

      
      The physical state of the ship affected Shackleton as well. There is something peculiarly depressing about an instrument that
         does not function as it should, but it was not just a matter of Discovery’s stability and sailing qualities. “In the building of the ship,” observed Charles Royds, one of the naval officers, “there
         have been one or two great mistakes made.” He was scandalised to find that “with the exception of the bunker space there is
         not a single sounding well in the ship”. 15 This meant that it was impossible to tell exactly where she was making water. All wooden ships leak; Discovery, because of what Royds called “downright carelessness & want of supervision”, leaked more than most. The consequence was
         that suddenly the holds were found to be awash. This was Shackleton’s department. He had to restow the cargo. Since he was
         a watch-keeping officer, that meant hard work in his watch below:
      

      
      

         I could work all day and all night too if Nature would allow it but now she is revolting and I find I must take more Sleep
            …16

      



      
      
      He found, when they were restowing the cargo, that the dockers in London had broached a case of real turtle soup and, finding
         this particular luxury not to their taste, discarded it, half empty, in the hold, since when it had been quietly fermenting.
         But Shackleton, a merchant officer, was surprised by very little at sea, not even by the anomalous Discovery; a merchant ship manned both by naval and merchant seamen, and run as a man o’war. He had soon shaken down and was taking
         the measure of his shipmates.
      

      
      It helped that Armitage was also a merchant officer. Armitage, heavily built and phlegmatic – “heavy cake”17 he was called – had the melancholy talent to be second-in-command. Like Shackleton, he could deal with all the kinds of humanity
         afloat. So also, in another style, could Charles Royds, First Lieutenant, and senior naval officer on board.
      

      
      Royds was the executive officer, the man who actually ran the ship – the buffer between the captain and the crew. He displayed
         infinite patience towards inferiors, and reserved ill-humour for his equals. Tall, well drilled, formal and immaculately turned
         out, Royds, to quote a naval rating, James Dell, was “absolutely navy from top to toe”.18

      
      Someone of a different stamp was the remaining deck officer, Lieutenant Michael Barne. Also from the Navy he was, however,
         less formal than either Royds or Scott. He had the face of a boy and the voice of Stentor. At home with small groups in close
         confinement, Barne was typically Navy, but a “small ship man”.
      

      
      Shackleton’s chosen companion, however, was not a brother officer, but Dr Edward Wilson, the expedition’s junior surgeon.

      
      

         He has quite taken me in his charge [Wilson wrote in his diary], and puts me up to endless tips and does no end of things
            for me.19

      



      
      Wilson hinted at one reason for this when he blandly recorded how “Swinburne’s Leper* was read to me on the bridge last night by Shackleton”.20 The Third Mate of the Discovery needed a listener and, after Hugh Robert Mill had left at Madeira, Wilson was about the only man on board willing to play
         the part.
      

      
      At the Cape, Shackleton hoped to meet his brother Frank, but when Discovery arrived there on 4 October, he found that Frank had been invalided home. Discovery in fact was late. She was no clipper. Her engines were too slow, and burned too much coal. Scott nonetheless had landed at the island of South Trinidad in the Atlantic
         and again, after the Cape, at Macquarie Island for a natural history excursion. “With the energy of enthusiasm,” said Scott,
         Shackleton returned “with a unique collection of insects, plants & geological specimens”;21 or now, at Macquarie Island, with “the usual nondescript assortment unlike anything else got”.22

      
      To Shackleton, it all seemed unintelligent dawdling, but humouring your captain, as he well knew, was one of the rules of
         the sea. Scott was beginning to see the cruise of the Discovery as another voyage of the Beagle, with himself perhaps playing Darwin.
      

      
      For the time being, however, Shackleton was most concerned with handling Discovery. She had turned out to be a worse sea boat than he had feared, She did not swoop over the long southern swell, she lumbered.
         Her steering gear jammed. She flew up into the wind against her helm. She lurched and kicked and broached to. As Shackleton
         was the only watchkeeping officer on board with much practice in sail, he felt acutely that the safety of the ship rested
         on himself.
      

      
      On 28 November, the New Zealand coast finally appeared over the horizon. Just before midnight Discovery made Akaroa Heads, and dropped anchor outside Lyttelton. “Shackleton,” said Wilson, “went off in a boat and pulled the old
         postmaster out of bed and made him give us his mails.”23 Shackleton wanted his letters from Emily, but he knew too that Wilson had left England a fortnight after getting married
         and also wanted letters from home.
      

   



      
      
      VI

      
      A protean world of ice

      
      In New Zealand, Shackleton received the news that Mr Dorman had suddenly died. Emily was now in a position to decide on marriage
         for herself. She did not absolutely require her future husband to have reached 90° south latitude, so that in one sense Shackleton
         need not have come at all. On Christmas Eve, however, when Discovery left New Zealand and her dark, ungainly form headed at last south into the unknown, Shackleton was still on board; still,
         as he insisted, for Emily’s sake.
      

      
      “It is a difficult thing to write a diary”, Shackleton remarked on New Year’s day, “and keep the rubbish out.”1 Two days before, he had simply written, “There is nothing to say today so I will shut up.”2 That might have been because two stokers, in the words of Reginald Skelton, the chief engineer, were
      

      
      

         logged by Captain & paraded before Ship’s Company for using discontented language on the mess deck about their food. Their
            grog & tobacco also stopped.3

      



      
      It was Shackleton’s first experience of naval discipline.

      
      On 2 January, early in the afternoon, Royds sighted the first iceberg flat, gleaming dully and mysterious:

      
      

         Everyone came up to look see, & the Captain following too close on Skelton coming up the hatch got a nasty kick which cut
            his left eye & had to have it sewn.4

      



      
      A few hours later Discovery crossed the Antarctic Circle, and the next day she reached the pack ice, having hardly had a blow all the way from New Zealand, 1100 miles or more. It was just as well. As her sluggish labouring revealed, she was dangerously overloaded.
         Shackleton, before leaving Lyttelton, had had to squeeze in a stupendous mound of extra stores waiting at the docks, and this
         before they crossed what Scott himself called “the stormiest ocean in the world”.5 Because of a drunken and unwilling crew, Shackleton had recourse to stevedores, the work, Scott recorded in naive surprise,
         being “exceedingly cheaply done considering the high level of wages in these colonies”. Now strewn atop the deck cargo wherever
         there was space, were twenty-three sledge dogs, taken at the urgent advice of Fridtjof Nansen.
      

      
      It was Nansen who gave the classic description of the pack ice, north or south. It was, as he put it, a world of its own,
         monotonous and simple,
      

      
      

         And yet it makes a rare impact on our senses. In its details it has forms changing interminably, and colours playing in all
            shades of blue and green; but overall, it is precisely by its simple contrasts that it has its effect … the drifting ice,
            a mighty white surface, curving into the distance as far as the eye can see … I will never forget the first time I entered
            this world … something white suddenly appeared … the first ice floe. More came; they appeared far ahead, with a squelching
            sound they glided past and disappeared once more astern. I noticed a strange glow in the [sky], strongest on the horizon,
            but it continued far towards the zenith … at the same time there was … a distant rumble as of surf beating on a shore. It
            was the pack ice ahead; the light was the reflection that its white surface always throws against the humid air.
         

      



      
      This is the “ice blink” of the polar navigators; the distant warning of the pack:

      
      

         The sound [continued Nansen] came from the waves breaking against the floes, which cannoned against each other grinding and
            groaning; on still nights, it can be heard far out to sea.6

      



      
      Such was the world into which Discovery now sailed. It was not the only expedition southward bound. On the other side of the continent, Otto Nordenskjöld, in his
         ship, Antarctic, was heading for Graham Land. Shackleton’s fate was to cross that of Nordenskjöld.
      

      
      Nordenskjöld was a Swede, although not exactly a typical one, and he was the antithesis of Scott. Where Scott was a servant
         appointed by others, Nordenskjöld had organised the expedition that he led, and financed it from private funds alone, fighting
         established opinion. Nordenskjöld, rather than Scott, therefore, typified the polar explorer of the age.
      

      
      
      Quiet, withdrawn, physically unimposing, Nordenskjöld concealed behind a hopeful beard and a bland exterior quite considerable
         powers. He was an academic, a geologist from the University of Uppsala, and that, in Sweden, meant great authority and prestige.
      

      
      At all events, Nordenskjöld was conspicuously better prepared than Scott. He had already been to Greenland, and led an expedition
         to Patagonia. Aware still of his own deficiencies, Nordenskjöld had taken a Norwegian whaling captain and crew for Antarctic. He wanted them for experience of ice. Now, at about the same time as Discovery in her quarter, Antarctic-’m the Weddell Sea was grappling with the pack as well.
      

      
      “The captain himself,” as Nordenskjöld described the classic scene, was “up in the crow’s nest, from where he directed the
         maneouvring”:
      

      
      

         The orders ring out incessantly, and the helmsman is hard put to follow the constant changes … From his lookout point, the
            captain chooses his point of attack approximately on the same principle as a billiard player, so that the chosen ice floe
            is not only pushed in the right direction … but the neighbouring floe, through cannoning, is set in motion, and makes way
            for the vessel. At full speed, we go ahead, then the engines arc stopped, and immediately there is a violent shock, so that
            the vessel shudders in every joint, and the uninitiated might imagine that each moment was his last. So serious, however,
            it is not. Slowly, the colossal floe begins to move, slowly the vessel glides ahead, while both sides scrape against the ice
            with a long drawn out roar that deceptively reminds one of the rumbling of thunder.
         

      



      
      Here, Nordenskjöld went on,

      
      

         there reigned a desolation and wildness which, perhaps, no other place on earth could show; I experienced a sense of helplessness
            as if standing alone and deserted amidst mighty natural forces.7

      



      
      Scott was faced with the belt of pack ice guarding the Ross Sea. He passed through in four days, one of the fastest of the
         seven passages so far on record, and wrote,
      

      
      

         It was such a pack that no sailing ship & very few steamers could have won through … Ross’ first voyage must have been attended
            with extraordinarily good fortune. Had he fallen in with such ice as we have met, he could not by any possibility have found
            his way through.8

      



      
      
      Scott, naturally, had never seen the pack ice before. But, Sir James Clark Ross, to whom he referred, was, in 1841, the first
         to penetrate the unknown southern pack. Under any circumstances, with sailing vessels unaided by mechanical power, that had
         been a courageous feat. It was Ross who had discovered South Victoria Land and the open Ross Sea, into which Discovery was breaking. It was Ross who, to this day, discovered more of the Antarctic coast than any other man.
      

      
      With land now in the offing, Scott was suddenly faced with the necessity of producing polar travellers. Also on the advice
         of Nansen, he had taken ski. One day when Discovery was brought up by the pack Shackleton, together with everyone else, was ordered out on to a convenient floe to start learning.
         Scott himself did not join. As audience, there was a liberal crowd of seal and penguin. North or south, the pack teems with
         life; and here its inhabitants had not yet learned to fear man. The seal barely moved out of the way, and the penguins gathered
         round squawking like spectators at an exhibition.
      

      
      Improvisation was the order of the day. “We all found [the] ski (pronounced shee) … rather awkward” in the words of Clarence Hare, Scott’s steward, “which is not surprising for the first time.”9 “I think my share of falls,” Shackleton bleakly wrote, “was greater than the others.”10

      
      It was on 8 January that Discovery nosed out of the pack ice into the open water of the Ross Sea. She also found clear weather again after a long spell of dull
         and overcast skies. That day, Shackleton for the first time saw the midnight sun. That day too, for the first time, Shackleton
         saw Antarctica.
      

      
      It was a distant prospect of mountains under the midnight sun. In Wilson’s words:

      
      

         A more glorious sight can hardly be imagined, with immense snow peaks rolled up in a mass of golden clouds and flooded with
            golden sunlight.11

      



      
      Shackleton, however, beyond invoking what he called his “lack of facility in explanation”,12 hardly recorded his impressions.
      

      
      There was on board Discovery an Australian physicist called Louis Bernacchi, who had joined the expedition at Lyttelton. A common taste for poetry drew
         him to Shackleton but he was eventually led to remark that “although Shackleton was always alert for any new interest – always
         full of flashing new ideas … Antarctica to him did not exist”.13

      
      It was the inward, not the outer world that engrossed Shackleton. He did not share the semi-pagan nature worship in which
         Nansen and Nordenskjöld were steeped. Shackleton’s impressions were probably akin to those of Scott, recording his first glimpse
         of the land ahead “which, so few having seen before, makes us almost feel explorers”.14 It was the Promised Land, with fame, fortune, heroic achievement, or so it seemed, waiting to be quarried from a cupola of
         ice.
      

      
      The mountains rearing up ahead were the Admiralty Range of South Victoria Land. Discovery was closing Cape Adare, where Borchgrevink had become the first man to winter on the Antarctic continent.
      

      
      Shackleton was in the landing party that, on 9 January, went away in one of Discovery’s whalers to leave a message for a relief ship, as instructed, at Borchgrevink’s base. It lay on a spit of shingle with a colony
         of Adelie penguins.
      

      
      

         Such a sight! [Wilson remarked in his diary] The place was the colour of anchovy paste from the excreta of the young penguins.
            It simply stunk like hell, and the noise was deafening … And bang in the centre of this horrid place was the camp with its
            two wooden huts …15

      



      
      But it was the first human habitation on the Antarctic continent. It was where Shackleton first landed. Bernacchi was in the
         party too. He had been there before, with Borchgrevink. Did he remember what he once had written in that deserted hut upon
         the shore?
      

      
      

         A year spent entirely within the Antarctic Circle … 365 days! A sequestration from all civilisation … The past year has been
            such an unhappy one & so full of hardships – that I would not voluntarily spend such another for fame & fortune combined.16

      



      
      The date had been 1 January 1900, a mere two years before. Yet there he was, in the whaler grating on to the beach, already
         coming back.
      

      
      Leaving Cape Adare, Discovery now headed down the coast of South Victoria Land. From this time Hartley Ferrar, the expedition geologist, had an abiding
         memory of Shackleton “standing at the bows, chewing chocolate, watching the icebergs”.
      

      
      He had other reasons to remember Shackleton. Ferrar was bullied by Scott who, as he told his mother, got to the point of “finally
         producing tears”.17 That was because Scott considered Ferrar “conceited”. Ferrar happened to be a Cambridge man, hastily brought in as a substitute
         for Gregory, so hastily, in fact, that he only took his degree a month or two before sailing. Tall and athletic, Ferrar got
         a good second class in the natural sciences tripos and rowed for his college (Sidney Sussex) too. He possessed the quiet,
         other-worldly Cambridge manner which, admittedly, can be a little disconcerting. Also, at the age of twenty-two, Ferrar was
         the youngest in the wardroom, and therefore a natural prey of bullying.
      

      
      
      
      Shackleton took Ferrar under his wing, and Ferrar never forgot the way he stood by him in the face of Scott’s baiting. Perhaps
         Shackleton felt a certain bond. Ferrar, a product of Oundle, was also a public schoolboy, and another Anglo-Irishman into
         the bargain. In after years, he always remembered Shackleton, the junior officer of Discovery, as “a wonderful leader”, someone he would have “followed anywhere”.
      

      
      Discovery was now following in the tracks of Ross and his little squadron of Erebus and Terror. The constant spouting of whales induced Shackleton, on 11 January, to speculate whether Ross had been misled by the double
         blow of the Finn whale into believing it the Right whale.18 By some peculiar coincidence, on that very same day, off Graham Land, C. A. Larsen, captain of Nordenskjöld’s ship Antarctic, recorded similar speculations in his diary.
      

      
      The Right whale was the commercially profitable species’. It was, however, distressingly elusive. When Ross returned with
         reports of having seen it, he inspired a long, baffling hunt for Eldorado in the southern seas. A Right whale fishery would
         have meant a fortune without doubt.
      

      
      Shackleton had other preoccupations. Discovery was coasting through treacherous polar waters, and he was still undergoing his baptism of ice. He was also hovering in uncertainty.
         Scott, as Wilson put it, had been “strangely reticent about letting a soul on the ship know what even his immediate plans
         are”.19 It seemed in keeping with the British official’s apparently age-old mania for secrecy; or his belief that the repository
         of all wisdom lies in the official mind.
      

      
      Discovery cruised on to the south. It was like going back in time to an Ice Age. To see any bare ground was a notable event. On 20
         January, Shackleton led a party ashore to examine some rocks at a place on South Victoria Land since called Granite Harbour.
         With him was the senior surgeon and botanist, Reginald Koettlitz, a thin, melancholy man of German extraction, but rootless,
         with a passion for exploration. He had been with Armitage on the Jackson-Harmsworth Arctic expedition of 1894–7 to Franz Josef
         Land, and thus was one of the few on Discovery with polar experience. Shackleton wrote in his diary,
      

      
      

         Seeing some green stuff at the foot of a boulder I called [Koettlitz] to have a look at it. He went down on his knees and
            then jumped up, crying “Moss!! Moss!! I have found moss!!!” I said “Go on! I found it” He took it quite seriously, and said, “Never mind,
            it’s moss; I am so glad.” The poor fellow was so overjoyed that there were almost tears in his eyes. This was his Golconda* – this little green space in the icy South.20

      



      
      At 76° 30′S, it was the most southerly plant yet found; this tiny bridgehead of life clinging to the edge of a sterile shore.

      
      Through a protean world of ice, Discovery sailed on. In the water, sinister tabular icebergs, the debris of broken ones, polygonal floes, eroded bits, amorphous brash
         drifted by. On land, tongues, tumuli and towers tumbled outlandishly down to the sea, glinting dull green against grey waters.
      

      
      Over the horizon to the south, there was rising steadily the smoking cone of Mount Erebus, the volcano discovered by Ross.
         On 22 January, Discovery sailed up under its ice-bound flanks, and then reached Cape Crozier, to the east, under Mount Terror, the extinct twin of
         Erebus. There now burst into sight the Great Ice Barrier, a vast ice cliff running eastwards from Cape Crozier as far as the
         eye could see.
      

      
      The Barrier had been discovered by Ross. It forms the southern shore of the Ross Sea. It is in reality the edge of a mammoth
         shelf of ice, and is known today as the Ross Ice Shelf. To Ross, though, pre-eminently a seaman, it was a “barrier” to his
         ships.
      

      
      Sir Clements Markham had told Scott to follow in the tracks of Ross and extend his discoveries to the east. Especially, Sir
         Clements wanted the other end of the Barrier fixed. Discovery therefore headed eastwards, and for a week cruised along the mysterious wall of ice, which rolled endlessly on, towering
         up, mast high. The swell, breaking against the ice front, roared and pounded, sending up cascades of spume. Wilson observed
         at one point that in the Barrier
      

      
      

         were the most wonderful bright blue caves, and the whole face was hung with thin icicles, which made the most fascinating
            grottos with the pure blue depths of the caves and cracks.21

      



      
      Shackleton, on the other hand, was not as impressed by the Barrier as he had expected, not even after four hundred miles and
         the realisation that, with most of its bulk under water, it must have been a thousand feet thick. He was, as he said, occupied
         with “home thoughts from the ice”.22

      
      
      So far Discovery – to Scott’s mild irritation – had been following in the tracks of Ross. On 29 January, she finally passed his Furthest East.
         From the captain down, everyone on board was now keyed up.
      

      
      Next day, Thursday 30 January, as Royds recorded,

      
      

         it snowed hard all the time & was very thick & misty everywhere. We kept passing what was without any doubt snow covered land
            … at 6.45 p.m., in my last dog [watch] we, that is the Capt., Armitage, Koettlitz & self saw rocks sticking up through the
            snow, & at a good height up, so that at last we have really got the right stuff, and the “Discovery” has made a Discovery
            in real earnest …23

      



      
      To Shackleton, it was

      
      

         a very definite discovery, and it does seem curious. It is a unique sort of feeling to look on lands that have never been
            seen by human eye before.24

      



      
      The external scene had finally, as it were, broken in on Shackleton’s thoughts. A semblance of personal achievement had appeared
         at last. This was indeed new land, part of the continental coastline jutting north to form the abutment of the Barrier. It
         was named King Edward VII Land (today, the King Edward VII Peninsula), in honour of the new monarch; the first geographical
         discovery of his reign.
      

      
      Flushed with success, Scott now pushed on, for ahead lay another thousand miles of undiscovered coast, and apparently unlimited
         opportunity for fame. Heavy and difficult ice barred the way. “I am pretty confident,” Scott had written to the RGS, that
         Discovery “won’t rise to a squeeze.” He meant that bad design, with straight sides, and a stern counter, ensured that, if trapped, Discovery would probably be crushed by the pressure of the ice. “So,” he continued, “shall trust to luck to avoid that.”25 But in the evening of 31 January, when Shackleton took over the first watch (8 p.m. to midnight), he was faced with a notably
         unpleasant situation.
      

      
      Discovery was embayed in compacted sea ice.
      

      
      She was ringed by icebergs, like some polar Stonehenge of the Titans. Scott was below, although in such circumstances he ought
         to have stayed on the bridge. He had simply left orders to carry on east. Barne, the previous officer of the watch, had, in
         the naval manner of the day, blindly obeyed. In the process, he had lost his bearings. He knew he had sailed in through a
         narrow entrance. He could no longer say where it was. In the treacherous, shifting world of ice, drifting mysteriously in unknown currents, an
         entrance might no longer exist.
      

      
      Shackleton grasped that the ship was in a trap. Orders or no, his only concern was to escape. He took Discovery right round the bay in search of the way out. When Scott appeared on deck at the end of the watch, Shackleton still had not
         succeeded.
      

      
      Shackleton was now astounded to find Scott dissolve into something uncomfortably like panic. It was impossible to make him
         understand what was happening. Eventually, Shackleton went below, leaving Royds, who relieved him on watch, to deal with Scott.
      

      
      Royds did not have much more success. By the time he too went below, at 4 a.m., he still had not convinced Scott that they
         were simply chasing their own tail. Scott seemed impervious to any argument; his orders were well-nigh irrational. According
         to the log, the ship went round in a complete circle three times. The pack ice was “very heavy, close and much hummocked”.26 At 7.30, as Royds put it in his diary,
      

      
      

         there was a panic … & at last managed to convince the capt; so we again turned back & at last got out of what at one time
            looked a very nasty position, as young ice was forming thickly & very quickly.27

      



      
      It was not the first time that Scott had lost his head. Twice on the way down South Victoria Land he had allowed the ship
         to be trapped between an advancing belt of pack ice and the shore. It was Armitage who had taken over and saved the day, but
         a sense of ultimate purpose had been missing then, because Scott had so far divulged no plans. As if jolted by events, Scott
         now called officers and scientists into the wardroom and finally revealed what was in his mind.
      

      
      For Shackleton, the essential point was that Discovery would winter in the ice. All along, he ardently wanted to stay in the south. Until then, no more than anyone else on board
         had he known whether Discovery would return to civilisation for the winter; much less who would land, and who sail back. Now all uncertainty was settled
         at a stroke.
      

      
      Others were not so pleased. Some of the merchant seamen had signed on under the impression that it was for the round trip
         only, like any other voyage. Scott, however, did not tell the lower deck for another day or two.
      

      
      Discovery, meanwhile, had put about, and was making her best speed back along her tracks to the west. Scott had had a fright, and wanted to get out of danger. Also, it was late in the season, and time to find a winter haven. On the afternoon of 3 February,
         at about 164° west longitude, Discovery entered an inlet in the Barrier. Here the ice front sloped down to the water like a natural quay. Discovery lay to. Shackleton, together with Scott and Reginald Skelton, the naval chief engineer, went ashore, put on ski, and tried
         to run towards the south.
      

      
      Although Scott was curiously loath to admit it, they were following in Borchgrevink’s wake. Bernacchi, once again, could say
         he had been there before. Two years earlier he had sailed with Borchgrevink in the Southern Cross up an inlet – not perhaps the same, it was difficult to say. In any case, they had berthed, and made the first landing on
         the Barrier, ever. This was the historic occasion when Borchgrevink reached his Furthest South and opened the race for the
         Pole. The real significance, however, was this. On ski, with dogs and sledges, Borchgrevink had travelled over the Barrier.
         He did not go far but, in the words of Bernacchi at the time, the surface appeared
      

      
      

         absolutely no obstacle to travelling being smooth & level … From their turning point furthest south nothing could be distinguished
            but the great level expanse of ice – extending out of sight to the South.28

      



      
      Borchgrevink had proved that the Barrier was just another snowfield. He had shown the way ahead, and removed one mystery from
         the South. He was the precursor of continental Antarctic land travel, but he has never received the credit that is his due.
      

      
      Unlike Borchgrevink, Shackleton and his companions did not find the Barrier surface “always very good travelling”, as Skelton
         phrased it. “None of us are yet very expert on ski. So we do not get on very fast.”29 They soon returned.
      

      
      Scott now decided to use his balloon. In the bitter breeze, this was not a simple performance. The balloon was made of cow
         gut, which needed careful handling. Filling it with hydrogen from the cylinders needed equal care.
      

      
      Shackleton felt that here he would come into his own. He had had, after all, some training. Scott, however, although having
         none, insisted on going up first in order, as he frankly put it, to have “the honour of being the first aeronaut to make an
         ascent in the Antarctic regions”.30

      
      Shackleton was next. Into the rickety basket he clambered. Above him, the balloon, like a bloated tulip bulb, rose and billowed
         in the wind. Shackleton, to his own private satisfaction perhaps, climbed higher than Scott: to 650 feet. Precariously anchored
         to the snow by a frail-looking wire, he took the first Antarctic air photographs. They showed the white snow plain running free
         and unimpeded to the south. In the other direction, he could observe an equally interesting – and perhaps prophetic – sight.
         Discovery was snugly moored in an enticing natural harbour, protected by a narrow entrance. It was either a trap, or a base crying
         out to be used.
      

      
      After Shackleton came down, it was Wilson’s turn. He refused.

      
      

         As only one can go up at a time, I think it is perfect madness to allow novices to risk their lives in this silly way … Happily,
            after lunch, the balloon was found to have leaked to such an extent that an ascent was impossible, so [it] was emptied, and
            then it was found that had anyone used the valve in the morning, when the balloon was up, it would not have closed properly
            and nothing could have prevented the whole show from dropping to earth like a stone!31

      



      
      While all this was happening, Discovery was nearly crushed by a minor iceberg eddying in the tide. There was not enough steam in the boilers to move out of danger.
      

      
      After a day at what came to be called Balloon Bight, Discovery sailed on. She now headed straight back for the waters under Erebus, where Scott had finally announced that he was going
         to winter. Ice had started forming on the sea, and it seemed time to go. On 8 February, Discovery arrived, and headed up McMurdo Sound.
      

      
      McMurdo Sound is a wide waterway, thirty miles across and thirty miles long, sculpted out of ice. The western shore runs along
         the extremity of South Victoria Land, the eastern, along Ross Island, under Mount Erebus. Here Discovery seemed to be sailing through some outlandish dream world. At one point, a tongue of ice, mottled by volcanic grit, jutted
         out from the western shore. Scott saw the forms as “tombstones in a cemetery”.32 To Shackleton, on the other hand, “The whole place had a weird and uncanny look, and reminded me of the desert in ‘Childe
         Roland to the dark tower came’.”33* Scott had fallen back for an image on an underlying morbidity; Shackleton, as usual, to Browning.
      

      
      At the head of McMurdo Sound, in a bay behind a promontory, Discovery found her haven. There, at 77° 50′ south latitude, she was warped into place to wait for the winter. Very close lay the edge
         of the Barrier, always accessible by a pass, soon called the Gap.
      

      

      
      
      Among his plans, Scott had announced the attempt next summer to reach the South Pole. In preparation for this, he suddenly
         ordered skiing on the slopes above Discovery.
      

      
      Ten years later Skelton, after a winter at Lenzerheide, in the Swiss Alps, ruefully remarked that it was “such a pity we had
         no one in the Discovery to teach us properly, because everything depends on first lessons”.35 Koettlitz was the instructor. He could ski, but a gifted teacher he was not. In any case, polar travel required cross-country
         skiing. These tyros on their farflung nursery slope were trying to learn the downhill discipline. Either way, Scott, who soon
         sprained a knee, was trusting to improvisation, even in the profoundly technical domain of skiing.
      

      
      Shackleton incessantly tumbled about, finding – not entirely to his amusement – that, though uninjured, he was virtually the
         worst skier of them all. “Must practise the more,”36 he noted laconically. He seemed not to have progressed much since his first steps in the pack ice. He never did really take
         to skiing. Nor was he made for dedicated practice; he wanted instant results.
      

      
      Suddenly one day, soon after Shackleton’s birthday, he found himself leading a party to spy out the start of the road to the
         south. At the time, he was immersed in nostalgia “thinking of home – have not had a birthday at home for nearly 12 years”.37 The order to go out was the finest birthday present he could possibly have had. In the course of his twenty-eight years,
         Shackleton had often taken the lead, but this was the first time that he had ever been put in command.
      

   



      
      
      VII

      
      Polar travel

      
      Out into what he called the “weird white world”.1 Shackleton started just before midday on 19 February. It was, as perhaps he sensed, an historic occasion. Shackleton was
         leading the first major journey of the expedition, the first foray from McMurdo Sound. It was the start of the British route
         to the Pole. Chance played a part in the affair. By Scott’s own account, he let Barne and Shackleton toss a coin for command
         of the party, and Shackleton won.
      

      
      With Shackleton went Wilson and Ferrar; “Three polar knights”,2 as one contemporary put it. There was indeed a whiff of knight-errantry about their departure. Awkwardly accoutred in unfamiliar
         garments, they might well have been in armour. From a jackstaff on their sledge flew personal banners which, in the spirit
         of mediaeval chivalry, had been decreed for the officers by Sir Clements Markham. It was the first time they had been used.
         Each bore the owner’s arms: “or on a fess gules”, as the heraldic specification put it in the case of Shackleton, “three buckles
         on the field”, with the motto Fortitudine Vincimus, “By endurance we conquer”. Inspired by this, and Tennyson’s Idylls of the King, Shackleton could see himself as a Knight bf the Round Table setting off to do battle with the forces of nature.
      

      
      Make-believe chivalry was still very much part of English life. In this case it was enhanced by the quixotry of the enterprise.
         Shackleton, Wilson, and Ferrar were all equally raw. Armitage, Koettlitz and Bernacchi, the men with polar experience, had
         been deliberately kept behind. Shackleton was to learn the hard way. He was quite content, however, for it was how he too
         had been cradled. Besides, in the country of the blind, as well he knew, the one-eyed man is – sometimes – king.
      

      
      
      The day before Shackleton’s departure there took place the first attempts at driving dogs. Armitage and Bernacchi were the
         protagonists, the former, as Royds put it, “driving them by means of a whip & hard treatment while the latter is using soft
         words and coaxing”.3 Neither was notably successful. Shackleton left the dogs behind, and harnessed himself and his companions to the sledge instead.
         They eschewed skis as well. Turning themselves into beasts of burden, they laboured across the snow on their own unaided feet.
      

      
      It was a tableau that would have stupefied the eight other expeditions, of different nationalities, sharing the polar regions,
         north and south, with them. “Polar exploration without ski is extremely awkward,” in the words of Otto Sverdrup, the Norwegian
         explorer now entering his fourth consecutive year in the Arctic, “without dogs it is impossible.”4 Only on Discovery were dogs and ski still considered doubtful innovations.
      

      
      British polar explorers, at least of the official kind, had wilfully ignored the experience of others. They neglected ski.
         Likewise, they were obdurate in their prejudice against dogs for transport in the snow. Sir Clements Markham bore much of
         the blame. He had a talent for imposing the past on the present. Even so, the past had lessons for those willing to learn.
      

      
      The Norwegians, after all, had shown the way. It was, however, not necessary to look to foreigners. Englishmen were pioneers
         in the spread of skiing from its Norwegian homeland. In Canada, Scots trappers and travellers of the Hudson’s Bay Company
         had been object lessons in dog driving long ago. Thus William MacTavish from Norway House in 1834: “Transport in the winter
         is carried on by dogs yoked to a sledge … a man drives them, & it is scarcely credible the load these dogs will draw”. Even
         then, there was an ingrained scorn for British official expeditions from polar professionals. “The mission was projected …
         without mature consideration and the necessary previous arrangements totally neglected”, said Dr George Simpson, another Hudson’s
         Bay traveller, of John Franklin, an earlier British polar hero, in 1821. Franklin, as he put it,
      

      
      

         must have three meals p. diem, Tea is indispensable … so that it does not follow if those Gentlemen are unsuccessfull the
            difficulties are insurmountable.5

      



      
      The insularity that bedevilled polar explorers from Britain clearly extended to the British Empire as well. “You’ll hear”,
         to quote MacTavish again, on another contemporary expedition, “what a fine story they’ll make out of this bungle, they will, you may be sure, take none of the blame themselves”.6

      
      Sir Clements Markham, however, ignored all this. His models were the very British naval expeditions that had excited the scorn
         of men like Simpson and MacTavish. They had signally failed with dogs, but performed prodigies of man-hauling instead. Sir
         Clements himself participated in one of those expeditions, fifty years before. It was a short interlude, and Sir Clements’
         only experience of polar exploration; but it was enough for him to assume immense personal authority. He extolled man-hauling,
         and deplored the use of ski and dogs.
      

      
      Sir Clements was not dealing in rational argument, but seeing moral worth in doing things the hard way. That struck a deep
         chord among Englishmen. Sir Clements appealed also to the national sentimentality towards the dog, a fatal misunderstanding
         of the breed. It was coupled also with a romantic British preference for seeing men, rather than animals, at work.
      

      
      Such was the historical background against which Shackleton set out. Over the sea ice he went, past killer whales cruising
         along the edge, and up on to the Barrier. He was heading south-east, for an unnamed nunatak* later called White Island. Unused to the deceptiveness of clear air, the light of high latitude, and the foreshortening effect
         of snow and ice, he imagined the distance to be about ten miles; it proved instead to be eighteen.
      

      
      Still, the terrain was flat and undisturbed. The snow was granular and firm. Under notably worse conditions, it was a distance
         that, away in the Arctic, Sverdrup was polishing off with dogs in six or seven hours. Shackleton and his men were nowhere
         near the end after that time, and they simply struggled on:
      

      
      

         The pulling [wrote Ferrar] was fairly hard … a wind carrying snow-dust caught us. We worked against this … hardly making 6
            inches per step.7

      



      
      This records the first Antarctic blizzard encountered by Scott’s expedition on the march. “Snow-dust” was a graphic, homemade
         and wholly accurate term for what is known as drift. Antarctica is a desert, and fresh snowflakes falling are as rare as raindrops
         in the Sahara. Most blizzards simply sweep old, needle-like crystals of drift from one place to another. They are really dust
         storms in the cold.
      

      
      Shackleton was also initiated into the strange conflict of polar travel, where cold and heat are bedfellows. The art is to
         balance the two. It is easy enough to pile on garments while standing still; the difficulty is to protect the extremities without overheating
         the rest of the body while on the move. The key to this is proper ventilation.
      

      
      Shackleton and his companions were dressed in Burberry cloth; a British product, at that time the most efficient windproof
         fabric known. The garments, however, were wholly unsuitable. They were too tight, without fixed hoods, and they generally
         ignored what other explorers had learned in the past fifty years. The upshot was that the three men were liberally frostbitten;
         Shackleton worst of all. Absolutely determined, however, to reach that elusive cone of rock, he nonetheless led on, far beyond
         the point where experience would have told him to stop.
      

      
      They had a heavy sledge, crudely stowed with fourteen days’ food, tent, furs, all surmounted by a pram, a Norwegian skiff
         adapted to launching and beaching, to act as a lifeboat in case the sea ice broke up.
      

      
      Pulling all this and fighting the gale produced plenty of sweat which, in the end, drenched their underclothes and destroyed
         its insulation. They were dismal with clammy cold. By midnight they were thoroughly exhausted, battered by the incessant roaring
         of the wind and, though they did not understand it, dehydrated as well. It is a peculiarity of work in the cold that sweating
         is copious. Peary, Nansen, and others had already learned how vital it was to avoid sweating under polar conditions.
      

      
      Except for one short rest, Shackleton and his companions had been trudging continuously for twelve hours. Since breakfast,
         they had eaten virtually nothing. Shackleton gave the order to camp. Not one of them had ever pitched a tent before. It reminded
         Shackleton of his first struggles aloft on the Hoghton Tower trying to set a topsail. Eventually the tent was, somehow, raised. Then a meal had to be cooked. That involved lighting the
         primus stove.
      

      
      This was the first device for efficiently burning paraffin, and the first portable, high efficiency stove. By reducing fuel
         consumption, it vastly extended the range of unsupported travel. It was one of the technical advances that revolutionised
         polar exploration. Invented by a Swede called Frans Wilhelm Lindquist, the primus stove worked by vaporising paraffin under
         pressure applied by a small air pump. It could boil a pint of water in three minutes against ten minutes or more required
         by the old spirit lamps using wicks.
      

      
      Lighting the primus stove, however, was not just a matter of striking a match and turning a tap. One had to know how to heat
         the nozzle with methylated spirits, how to pump, how to adjust the pressure. The primus had been on the market since 1892,
         but very few on Discovery had ever used one. Ferrar, at least, had taken the trouble to learn how to work it, but he had not yet applied his knowledge in the field, crouching in a tent. Eventually he
         managed it, but they were all three so exhausted that all they could stomach was a little cocoa.
      

      
      Nor had any of them ever slept in a tent before; and never in a sleeping bag. In fact, they did not have sleeping bags, by
         now the customary gear among polar explorers. Instead, they had strange sleeping suits of reindeer pelts contrived by unnamed
         experts. Getting in was “like wrestling with a python”,8 as somebody put it, and that had to be accomplished in a crowded tent, the canvas rattling in the gale like the flicking
         of a damp towel. Their boots, in Wilson’s words,
      

      
      

         were frozen to the socks, so that both came off in one and it took us all we knew next morning to tear the socks out. The
            sweat of one’s feet had lined the boots with ice … I was constantly getting cramp in the thighs wherever I moved … the cold
            of the ice floor crept through and the points of contact got pretty chilly. We put Ferrar in the middle and though that was
            the warmest place, he was coldest during the night. I think he was most done up.9

      



      
      After dozing fitfully for about an hour, they were woken by the silence of the wind suddenly dropping. They “rather tumbled
         everything into the pram”,10 as Ferrar put it, and hauled for four hours; “a rather different thing though now, with no wind and no drift and bright sunshine”,11 in Wilson’s words. A mile or so from the island, they were stopped where the Barrier was cloven and crevassed.
      

      
      Leaving the sledge behind, Shackleton led his men on, unroped. By all the rules, inexperience should have flung him to disaster
         in some chasm lightly bridged by snow. Except for dropping one foot into a hidden crevasse, however, he got them through to
         the island. Then, despite his ignorance of mountaineering, he led them safely to the top. By then, it was midnight on 20 February.
      

      
      Having seen, Shackleton wanted to hurry back and tell his tale. He returned to the ship in a single day. Late in the evening
         of 22 February, after eleven hours’ solid hauling, he arrived, “full of talk”, said Royds, “as expected”.12

      
      In the bleak light of retrospection, Shackleton had merely blundered his untutored way over a few miles of snow and ice, and
         then up a not too impressive climb of a few hundred feet. But Balboa, first seeing the Pacific, could not have been more stupendously
         elated than Shackleton, as he stepped on to the summit of his nunatak. A silent white landscape dully glittered in the fading
         midnight sun. To the west, he saw a new range of unknown mountains. More, much more, southwards at his feet, the Barrier rolled
         on unhindered. Shackleton had found the road to the Pole. He was a discoverer; he had shown the way ahead. Beyond the mirage
         shimmering on the southern horizon, he could almost see El Dorado.
      

      
      The day after his return was a Sunday. For church service Shackleton, as he noted in his diary, specially requested the hymn

      
      
      Fight the good fight with all thy might,

      
      Christ is thy strength, and Christ thy right;

      
      Lay hold on life, and it shall be

      
      Thy joy and crown eternally.13




      
      The wardroom of Discovery, however, was designed to keep people in their place, not give the instant recognition that Shackleton craved; but at least
         he had the satisfaction of being the only one that season to attain his goal.
      

      
      A dozen men tried to reach Cape Crozier, at the other end of Ross Island, with a message for the relief ship, a distance of
         barely forty miles. They failed. (Nansen had a dozen men with him for the whole three-year drift of the Fram.) Someone opened a tin of jam at a temperature of about – 30°F. He “took out some on his knife & put it into his mouth,” as
         Frank Wild, one of the naval seamen, told the tale. “The knife immediately froze fast to his lips & tongue & he had to keep
         it there until it warmed sufficiently for him to remove it without tearing a lot of skin away.” On the way back another seaman,
         named Vince, fell over an ice cliff and was killed.
      

      
      Before winter closed down, Scott himself went south to depot supplies out on the Barrier for the summer journey towards the
         Pole. He, too, failed.
      

      
      Ignorance, inexperience and unpreparedness were the trouble. Shackleton was guilty of all three, he too. His short excursion,
         however, had stirred within him the feeling that, to quote one Irish writer, “Irishmen make better leaders than followers”.14 Within him burned the sacred flame of leadership. It was, perhaps, his redeeming virtue. For the moment, it simply intensified
         an acutely growing sense, before Scott, of playing second fiddle.
      

   



      
      
      VIII

      
      Polar night

      
      “The whole arrangement,” as Skelton put it, “can be improved by system.”1 He was writing of the technical deficiencies the Cape Crozier fiasco had so glaringly revealed, but he was practically alone
         in his concern. The wardroom seemed otherwise preoccupied. What, for example, was the expedition magazine to be called? On
         21 March, a formal and argumentative meeting finally decided on The South Polar Times. As editor, the choice fell on Shackleton.
      

      
      Until Discovery froze in, however, there was little peace of mind for editing. Like each other officer, Shackleton was perpetually worried
         about the safety of the ship. With every shift of the wind, wires and cables had to be adjusted. At last, by the end of March,
         the swell died down; the creak of working timbers ceased, Discovery was firmly embedded in the ice that now encased the bay. She ceased to be a living ship. Until she floated free once more,
         her officers were released from their over-riding care.
      

      
      On shore, meanwhile, a wooden hut was built. Ordered from Australia, it had originally been intended for the landing party
         should Discovery not stay south for the winter. Since everyone now lived on the ship, it served as a store, and emergency quarters in case
         of fire on board. It was a gloomy place. It gave its name to Hut Point, a promontory of Ross Island on which it stood. The
         extreme tip was called Cape Armitage, after the second-in-command. Most of the local features, when Discovery sailed in, were as yet unnamed.
      

      
      “I wonder how we will feel when the sun goes for a couple of months,” Shackleton had written among the Cape rollers in August
         under clouded skies, “when we miss him so if he is away two days!”2 On 3 March, with the midnight sun receding, he recorded that it was dark enough for the first time at McMurdo Sound to see
         the stars; “the heralds,” as he put it, “of approaching winter”.3 Six weeks later, he marked the “creeping on of winter”, with the Shakespearean tag, “Fear no more the heat of the sun, or
         the furious winter’s rages though thy worldly …” leaving, as he often did, the ending in the air:
      

      
      
      … task hast done,

Home art gone and ta’en thy wages;

      
      Golden lads and girls all must,

As chimney sweepers, come to dust.4




      
      Among the robust determination of the others not to be affected by the polar night, Shackleton’s unease stood out.
      

      
      The darkness was not the only explanation. It was in any case hardly absolute – at noon, even in midwinter, there was a faint
         red glimmer above the horizon to the north. There were the rippling curtains of the Aurora Australis, like Shelley’s “orbed
         maiden”, as Shackleton quoted in his diary, “with white fire laden”.5 Sometimes a cloud above Erebus glowed eerily with a dull red reflection from the crater. It was a foray, so it almost seemed,
         to another planet.
      

      
      What Shackleton was troubled by was an aching fear of time and opportunity slipping by. He was, of course, only the junior
         officer on board. When the sun returned, he might so easily find himself the shipkeeper, condemned to wait behind while others
         collared all the glory in the south.
      

      
      Once more he had to live in uncertainty and doubt; but he was not alone. Scott was secretive and morose. Not a word of his
         intentions did he discuss. Woe betide anyone who asked. Even the naval officers, accustomed to uncommunicative superiors,
         were ill at ease.
      

      
      Gregory had anticipated something of the sort when he remarked that it was Scott’s “first command and for a man who talks
         so much about discipline, I think it is a pity for his first command to be so unusual.”6 Under imaginative leaders, the polar winter was a crowded interval of preparation, but on Discovery it meant the torpid routine of a ship in port. In the spring, improvisation on the march could recommence but, until then,
         time, somehow, had to be made to pass.
      

      
      Shackleton had sketched out a comprehensive plan of reading although it had nothing to do with the polar regions, for systematic
         preparation occurred no more to him than to his commander. “I can see no chance of doing the study I should like to during
         the winter,”7 Shackleton, however, was soon writing. The South Polar Times was absorbing his attention. He saw it, in fact, as something to fall back on, in case he did not go south. In any case,
         Scott would have the privilege, by contract, of writing the only authorised account of the expedition. Shackleton instead
         harboured a scheme to publish The South Polar Times on returning home. Shackleton indeed, as Armitage recalled, had “leanings towards Journalism”.8 The South Polar Times would be the entrée into Fleet Street, and hence the path to fame and fortune by another route. Of one thing, at any rate,
         Shackleton was now tolerably certain. Having once escaped, he was not going back to the mercantile marine.
      

      
      With a nice sense of promotion, Shackleton launched The South Polar Times on 23 April, the day, as he put it, when “the sun disappeared from our view for 121 days and the long Antarctic winter has
         commenced”.9 It was of course (although he did not mention it) St George’s day as well. The issue, he went on to say, “came out after
         dinner and was greatly praised!”
      

      
      It was not, in fact, Shackleton’s first experience of editing. Two years before while trooping in the Boer War, and together
         with the ship’s surgeon, he had published a slim volume with the self-explanatory tide “O.H.M.S.” an illustrated record of the voyage of s.s. “Tintagel Castle,” containing twelve hundred soldiers from Southampton
            to Cape Town March 1900. In his description of the departure:
      

      
      

         … We go! We are steaming into the blue, to the land where glory or death awaits us, and we’re Britishers, we are men in a
            world of men. Our red flag waves on the steamer’s stern with the Union which is ours the wide world over …10

      



      
      Shackleton had already shown that he had the journalist’s gift of being in touch with his public.

      
      The South Polar Times was redolent of a school magazine. Besides the editing, Shackleton typed each issue out while Wilson, who was a fair painter,
         did the illustrations. Thus, frozen in at the edge of an uninhabited continent, at the other end of the globe, Shackleton
         learned the rudiments of magazine production. He rigged up an office in Discovery’s hold and, sequestered there week after week, he and Wilson worked.
      

      
      Scott approved of The South Polar Times; he also wanted plenty of scientific observations. So, at the top of what was now called Crater Hill, Shackleton and Wilson
         obligingly established an extra meteorological observatory. “We want to take as much exercise … as possible,” said Shackleton,
         “and this will be a useful way of doing it.”11 In his diary, “Went up Crater Hill with Billy”,12 as he called Wilson, became, throughout the winter, a constant refrain. In a letter to his wife Wilson wrote,

      
      

         God knows it is just about as much as I can stand at times, and there is absolutely no escape. I have never had my temper
            so tried as it is every day now … You told me your Father had said I was a peacemaker [and] a little bit of peace-making is
            wanted … in this community of men …13

      



      
      On the other side of the continent, meanwhile, Otto Nordenskjöld was writing that despite

      
      

         all the excellent qualities and goodwill … of my closest companions, nevertheless I had seen how difficult it is to unite
            round one interest personalities which in many respects are each others’ diametric oppo-sites.14

      



      
      The only difference was that Nordenskjöld, philosophising over his leadership of the Swedish expedition, published what he
         wrote. Wilson very definitely did not, possibly because, as Hugh Robert Mill explained, it was “the fine tradition of British
         explorers [in] passing over … little squabbles and jealousies”.
      

      
      In any case, both were touching on a particular risk of polar exploration, that is, the strain of being cooped up for long
         in isolation. Friction is inevitable. The maddening proximity of a too familiar face may be a torture in itself. The clash
         of personality has always been a danger more sinister than climate or terrain. On Discovery, Scott responded by forcing everyone into the only pattern that he knew. He imposed a rigid, regimental kind of discipline
         that was actually a caricature of the Navy at the time. He paraded the men topsides thinly clad for captain’s inspection,
         because that was the custom, although it was manifestly unsuited to the circumstances. He ordered the scientists – as he had
         told Sir Clements Markham – to keep a summary of their work in his cabin and write it up weekly.15 “The thing that always used to tickle me,” Shackleton afterwards recalled, “was the way … Royds used to put new snow on the
         … deck, getting the dirty stuff up before divisions.”16 At the time Shackleton was, perhaps, not so amused. It was noticed by the seamen; as most things on board usually are. Shackleton
         “hated any sort of formality”, as one of the naval ratings vividly remembered. “He didn’t fall in with all the views of all
         the naval officers.”17 Shackleton’s walks up Crater Hill with Wilson were also to get away from the ambit of an unsympathetic regime.
      

      
      Tall, thin, red-haired, with the ghost of a quizzical smile hovering over slightly compressed lips, Wilson moved quietly among his fellows. Like Ferrar, he was a Cambridge man (Gonville
         and Caius College) and he displayed too the characteristic, withdrawn Cambridge manner. In Wilson’s case, it was complicated
         by the fact that he was not too enthusiastically a doctor, but had a religious vocation in an evangelical way. Had he not
         been forced by custom to follow his father into medicine, he would undoubtedly have taken Orders. Except for a mysterious
         undertone of bitterness, he gave the impression, at twenty-nine, of all passion prematurely spent. He and Shackleton did not
         seem natural companions. Nonetheless, thrown together by chance, they found each other the most congenial company available.
      

      
      Shackleton needed a listener still. It was not simply that he required an audience for his recitation; he could, and indeed
         did, dragoon others for that. (Skelton, for example, who actually despised poetry, or so he said.) Shackleton urgently wanted
         to talk about himself. Anyone else on board would have fled at the merest hint. It was Wilson’s fate, as he once wryly put
         it, to have “confidential talks with various people who [have] confidences to bestow”.18 He was alone in being prepared to hear Shackleton out. From Shackleton, however, he got something in return.
      

      
      Wilson had suffered from tuberculosis, and he may not yet have been completely cured. He was in any case someone of low vitality;
         and to that Shackleton, with his overflowing spirits, acted as an antidote. It was curiously similar to Shackleton’s effect
         on Emily Dorman.
      

      
      To Wilson, Shackleton harped on his ardent longing to go on the “southern journey” which now truly seemed the key to fame
         and fortune. The conquest of the Pole would put the world at his feet. Shackleton, however, was suffering from the protracted
         anguish of uncertainty. Wilson could sympathise, for the months passed, and Scott still revealed no plans. He remained withdrawn
         and secretive. Ennui had settled on the ship. While the dogs moped, neglected in their kennels, and blizzards swept down as
         a reminder of a world yet to be mastered, Shackleton succinctly wrote that he was “doing the same thing day after day”.19 Even The South Polar Times turned into a chore. To pass the time, Shackleton sometimes helped “Muggins” trawl for biological specimens through holes
         in the ice.
      

      
      “Muggins” was what Shackleton called Thomas Vere Hodgson, the marine biologist. The wardroom mostly had nicknames. Almost
         all were Shackleton’s invention. Hodgson was originally a Birmingham bank clerk, and virtually self-taught. Small, dark, shy
         and balding, he had a distinctive sense of humour, and a tendency to bungle meteorological observations. There was “a healthy catalogue of crime against me”,20 as he put it. “General conversation on the subject is not sympathetic.” Shackleton found him quite companionable. “They would
         come back happy and filthy,” said Hare, the steward,
      

      
      

         and unload their specimens on the wardroom table for … bottling, much to the disgust of some of the officers, and myself,
            when I might want to prepare the table for dinner.21

      



      
      Which was all highly diverting; but scarcely the training they all so sorely needed.

      
      In Scott, Shackleton, for the first time, was faced with a weak captain; or at any rate a captain with a conspicuously weaker
         personality than his own. Shackleton responded by dominating Scott. He assumed the psychological leadership. It was the sort
         of thing that happens on expeditions, the old battle for supremacy in the pack. While Scott seemed somehow to shrink into
         the background Shackleton obviously, too obviously, took the lead.
      

      
      Barne, in after years, remembered him as “a grand shipmate and good company … a great raconteur, and he had a very pretty
         wit … he’d never rub anybody up the wrong way.”22 To Reginald Skelton, the naval chief engineer, on the other hand, Shackleton was simply “‘gassing’ and ‘eye serving’ the
         whole time.”23 Wilson, again, thought that “Shackleton’s conversation is sparkling and witty to a high degree. He has a wonderful memory,
         and has an amazing treasure of most interesting anecdote. That and his quick wit and keen humour are his strong points.”24 Bernacchi, for his part, considered Shackleton “a buccaneer in some of his ways, dominating, truculent and challenging. He
         could be very unpleasant if he were attacked.”25 Reginald Ford found a
      

      
      

         certain lack of consistency in [Shackleton’s] character – you did not know where you were with him so certainly as with the
            others.
         

      



      
      Ford was Discovery’s purser, and Shackleton’s direct subordinate. Shackleton, Ford went on,
      

      
      

         told stories that were true only in the poetic sense. [But] I think that his good qualities and his charm and kindness when
            at his best, outweighed his faults in our eyes.26

      



      
      Hare noticed that Shackleton had

      
      

         pronounced likes and dislikes. [He] was a man of many moods, soft spoken, quick brained, brilliant at times, but constrained
            when worried or under disturbing influences. His very handsome features plainly reflected these quick changing moods. His was no poker
            face …27

      



      
      Such were the shifting views of Shackleton. It was part of his tantalising elusiveness; perhaps another facet of his Anglo-Irish
         ambivalence. In any case, said Hare, Shackleton was “the most popular of the officers among the crew, being a good mixer”.28

      
      However, since Discovery was run on naval lines, the gulf between officers and seamen was strictly maintained. This was only partly due to naval tradition;
         it accurately mirrored English social habits. In any case, it suited Scott’s dependence for authority on hierarchy, rank,
         and drill. Even so Shackleton would often be found on the messdeck, talking to the men. He was not in fact the only officer
         to do so – Royds, for example, did so as well. Royds, however, was doing what he saw as his duty as an officer: affable and
         humane, he was ever conscious of the divide between the ratings and himself. Shackleton, on the other hand, ignored that divide.
         Social distinctions were meaningless to him. Being Anglo-Irish, he was in a sense classless. He took his friends where he
         found them, and this caused unease not only among the officers. As James Dell, a seaman, expressed it,
      

      
      

         To us on the lower deck, [Shackleton] was rather an enigma … He was both fore and aft, if you understand.29

      



      
      Both sides of the social divide wanted to know where they stood.

      
      Like a kind of hibernation, the dark winter rolled on, aimless and subdued. On 12 June however, Shackleton was writing in
         his diary that “we do not feel the long night as spoken about by the Belgica”.30 This was a comment on Through The First Antarctic Night, the book by an American, Dr Frederick A. Cook, about his experience on the Belgica expedition, under Adrien de Gerlache. Cook was trying to depict the true life of the expedition, instead of hiding behind
         the high-minded façade of an heroic convention. The ennui of Belgica, however, was not so very different from that on Discovery. The chief distinction was that whereas on Belgica there was insanity among the seamen, on Discovery there was fighting, partly due to drink. In any case, Belgica had been far worse off. She was drifting with the pack ice in the Bellingshausen Sea, none knew quite where. “In my view,
         the chance of being stuck,” her Second Mate, a twenty-six-year-old Norwegian called Roald Amundsen, had written in his diary
         on 21 June 1898, “is as great as that of escape”.31 It was something that, under similar circumstances, Shackleton might have to say himself. But for the moment Shackleton, no more than anyone else on Discovery, could hardly bear to face a mirror of his own condition. It was simpler to call the men of the Belgica “poor-hearted creatures”,32 as he put it in his diary that Thursday 12 June.
      

      
      Next day Shackleton was unexpectedly summoned by Scott to his cabin, and told that he was going on the southern journey. The
         long torment of uncertainty was over.
      

      
      The day before, it had been Wilson’s turn. In his own words,

      
      

         The Skipper told me he had taken the long journey towards the South Pole for himself, and had decided that to get a long way
            south the party must be a small one … either two or three men … would I go with him? My surprise can be guessed. It was rather
            too good … to be true.
         

      



      
      Wilson did not, apparently, have the same consuming desire as Shackleton or Scott for the Furthest South. It was in a spirit
         of fatalism that he had joined the Expedition. “I think I am intended to go,” he had told his wife-to-be at the time.
      

      
      

         If I had tried to get it I should have had many doubts, but it seems to have been given to me to do.33

      



      
      The southern journey, as he put it now, would be

      
      

         taking me right away from my proper sphere of work to monotonous hard work on an icy desert for three months, where we shall
            see neither beast nor bird nor life of any sort … and nothing whatever to sketch.
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